## UC Irvine UC Irvine Electronic Theses and Dissertations

### Title

Generalizable Communication Styles in Novice and Expert Team Performance

### Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/895205vw

**Author** Reitman, Jason Ginsberg

Publication Date 2022

### **Copyright Information**

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution License, available at <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</a>

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

# UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE

Generalizable Communication Styles in Novice and Expert Team Performance

### DISSERTATION

submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

#### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Informatics

by

Jason G. Reitman

Dissertation Committee: Professor Constance Steinkuehler, Chair Professor Melissa Mazmanian Professor Judy Olson

 $\bigodot$  2022 Jason G. Reitman

# DEDICATION

То

Frieda, Julie, Marion, and Harry, who loved learning.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page	9	
LI	ST C	OF FIGURES vi	i	
LI	LIST OF TABLES vii			
A	CKN	OWLEDGMENTS viii	i	
$\mathbf{V}$	ГТА	ix	٢	
A	BSTI	RACT OF THE DISSERTATION x	ζ	
1	Intr	oduction 1	L	
	1.1	Guiding Questions	3	
	$1.2 \\ 1.3$	Research Approach    3      Dissertation Overview    4	\$ 1	
<b>2</b>	Bac	kground & Related Work 5	5	
	2.1	Team Cognition	j	
		2.1.1 Transactive memory systems	7	
		2.1.2 Shared mental models $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	)	
		2.1.3 Macrocognition and collaborative problem-solving	)	
	2.2	Team Performance across Domains    13	3	
		2.2.1 Team Communication	Ś	
		2.2.2 Roles, status, and team structure	3	
		2.2.3 Spatial and temporal coordination	L	
		2.2.4 A note on stress and team cognition	3	
	2.3	Team Taxonomies	ł	
	2.4	Esports	)	
		2.4.1 Disciplines Studying Esports	) \	
		2.4.2 Trends across Disciplines	2	
3	Con	nmunication & Expertise in <i>League of Legends</i> 38	3	
	3.1	League of Legends Overview	3	
		3.1.1 Attack Damage Carry 39	)	
		3.1.2 Support $\ldots \ldots 40$	)	
		3.1.3 Mid Laner	)	

		3.1.4 Jungler	40			
		3.1.5 Top Laner	41			
		3.1.6 Team Fights	41			
	3.2	Modes of Communication	42			
	3.3	Information Storage	44			
		3.3.1 Individual Responsibility	46			
		3.3.2 Information in Flux	47			
	3.4	Summary	49			
<b>4</b>	Emj	pirical Study	50			
	4.1	Introduction	50			
		4.1.1 Research Questions	51			
	4.2	Methods	52			
		4.2.1 Periods of Interest	52			
		4.2.2 Pariticipants	53			
		4.2.3 Data Collection	55			
		4.2.4 Data Analysis	57			
	4.3	Findings	69			
		4.3.1 Communication and Performance Results	72			
		4.3.2 Communication and Expertise Results	77			
		4.3.3 Summary of Significant Findings	83			
	4.4	Discussion	84			
	4.5	Limitations & Future Work	88			
		4.5.1 Limitations of the Sample	88			
		4.5.2 Limitations of the Research Protocol	90			
		4.5.3 Selecting Periods of Play under Pressure instead of Measuring Stress	91			
		4.5.4 Future Work	92			
	4.6	Summary	93			
	_					
5	Ison	norphic Teams	94			
	5.1	Introduction	94			
	5.2	Characteristics of Esports and Isomorphic Teams	95			
	5.3	Empirical Work toward Generalization	102			
6	Con	clusion	103			
Bi	bliog	graphy 1	105			
Δ	nnen	dix A League of Legends Map	115			
<b>۲</b>	PLOID	and it heads to be a second to the second se				
$\mathbf{A}$	ppen	dix B Recruitment Flyer 1	117			
A	Appendix C Demographic Survey Items					
$\mathbf{A}$	Appendix D Example Period of Interest Coding					

Appendix E	Visualizations of Communication Styles by Group	122
Appendix F and Perfor	Visualizations of Relationships between Communication Style rmance	${ m s}$ 127
Appendix G rience, and	Analysis of Temporal Information Communication, Team Expe d Game Expertise	- 142

# LIST OF FIGURES

### Page

2.1	Team cognition connects to team performance through its manifestation in team behavior. Aspects of team cognition are observable in and influence the effectiveness of collective behaviors, as indicated by the overlap between the	
	cognitive unit of analysis box and the behavior arrow	14
4.1	Bar graphs of rank distribution by group	55
4.2	in virtual teams." Reprinted from [81].	60
4.3	Correlation matrix, of communication frequency, motivational proportion, in- formative proportion, timely proportion, collective proportion, and temporal	
	information proportion. ( $p<0.1$ ., $p<0.05$ *, $p<0.01$ **, $p<0.001$ ***).	73
$4.4 \\ 4.5$	Histogram of communication frequency over the entire corpus Density and QQ plots of communication frequency including and omitting	74
	outliers.	75
4.6	Boxplots of communication frequency by objective performance in team novices	
	and team experts	76
4.7	Boxplots of communication frequency by objective performance in game novices	
	and game experts	77
4.8	Histograms of temporal information communication including 0 values on the	
	left and excluding 0 values on the right	83

## LIST OF TABLES

### Page

$4.1 \\ 4.2$	Sample of teams stratified by two factors: team expertise and game expertise. Gender and age descriptives by group.	54 54
4.3	Team experience: self-reported games played together by group	54
4.4	Game expertise: in-game ranks by group	55
4.5	Data collection protocol timeline for each session.	57
4.6	Coding scheme table of code definitions.	61
4.7	Strength of agreement for ranges of Cohen's Kappa according to Landis &	
	Koch. Reprinted from [71] (p. 165)	62
4.8	Cohen's Kappa values from the third round of inter-rater reliability testing.	62
4.9	Table of PoI descriptives for the entire corpus.	70
4.10	Correlation ( $\tau$ ) between KD and communication frequency and qualities. ( $p < 0.1$ , $p < 0.05$ * $p < 0.01$ ** $p < 0.001$ *** )	72
4 11	two-way ANOVA of communication frequency as a function of team experience	12
1.11	and game expertise	79
4 12	two-way ANOVA of motivational communication as a function of team expe-	15
1.12	rience and game expertise	79
4 13	two-way ANOVA of informative communication as a function of team expe-	15
1.10	rience and game expertise	79
4.14	two-way ANOVA of timely communication as a function of team experience	-0
	and game expertise	79
4.15	two-way ANOVA of collective communication as a function of team experience	
	and game expertise	80
4.16	Summary statistics of communication frequency and proportions of motiva-	
	tional, informative, timely, collective and temporal information communica-	
	tion by level of team experience	80
4.17	Summary statistics of communication frequency and proportions of motiva-	
	tional, informative, timely, collective and temporal information communica-	
	tion by level of game expertise	80
4.18	Summary statistics of communication frequency and proportions of motiva-	
	tional, informative, timely, collective and temporal information communica-	
	tion by group	81
5.1	Characteristics and examples from <i>League of Legends</i> and isomorphic teams.	100

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to all my teachers, colleagues, friends, and family. Only a subset of you can be mentioned below, but none of this would exist without each of you. On that note, thank you to Polar Electro, and specifically Jyrki Schroderus, for generously supporting this work when pandemic supply chain issues were posing existential threats.

Constance Steinkuehler for her unerring ability to take me into her office when I was stressed out and turn me back out into the world an hour later inspired and excited about work and about life.

Judy Olson for making time in retirement to mentor one last student through his dissertation.

Melissa Mazmanian for showing me how to pour myself into my life and my work in ways that enrich both.

Rebecca W. Black for showing me how empathy improves research and education. Melissa and Rebecca will always my models for how to teach with both rigor and compassion.

Kurt Squire for demystifying the wild and wacky worlds of academic communities.

Bill Tomlinson for convincing me to just try things.

Mark Deppe, the 2016-2018 UCI League of Legends teams, and everyone at UCI Esports for their patience.

The Informatics graduate students for building a community that pushed and supported.

The Games+Learning+Society graduate and undergraduate students for being the best sounding boards I could ask for, and specifically Je Seok Lee, Garrison Wells, Daniel Yao, and Braden Culbert for their contributions to and feedback on this work. Jeseok and Gary, I will not miss those late night data collection sessions, but I will miss commiserating about them with you two.

All the coaches and athletes at UCI Fencing for never letting me forget that one bout.

The Moon Rats for all those second places.

Daniel Kennedy and Danilo Perez-Vides for countless conversations that stay between us.

My absurd family for inspiring me to find something I love and pursue it to the nth degree. In particular my parents for being unable to turn off their critical, curious, and encouraging sides. A special shout out to my five-and-a-half-years-older sister who has always tried to convince me that not everything is a competition. These three have put unknowable effort into helping me learn how to learn and into exemplifying how to ask questions that matter.

## VITA

## Jason G. Reitman

### EDUCATION

<b>Doctor of Philosophy in Informatics</b> University of California, Irvine	<b>2022</b> <i>Irvine, CA</i>
Bachelor of Arts in Psychology Wesleyan University	<b>2015</b> Middletown, CT
REFEREED FIRST-AUTHOR PUBLICATIONS	
<b>Esports research: A literature review</b> Games and Culture	2020
Academic and social-emotional learning in high school esports Proceedings of the 2020 Connected Learning Summit	2020
Distributed cognition and temporal knowledge in League of Legends International Journal of Gaming and Computer-Mediated Simulations	<b>2018</b> s (IJGCMS)
CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS	
(Posters and Workshop Presentations)	
Esports and domain general research for high perfor- mance teams Esports and High Performance HCI workshop at CHI 2021	2021
<b>Peer mentoring in high school esports</b> 2019 Esports Research Conference	2019
EDITORSHIP	
Proceedings of the 2019 Esports Research Conference	2019

2019 Esports Research Conference

## ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Generalizable Communication Styles in Novice and Expert Team Performance

By

Jason G. Reitman

Doctor of Philosophy in Informatics University of California, Irvine, 2022

Professor Constance Steinkuehler, Chair

Much of team communication is a trained process for teams in high pressure environments, like the highly regimented checklists that structure aircraft takeoff and landing. Elite esports teams use communication to maintain tight coordination in the face of chaotic and stressful stimuli, closely resembling behavior of high performing teams in domains seemingly dissimilar from competitive video games. This 2 x 2 factorial design explores differences between ingame communications in *League of Legends* teams that vary in both experience as a team and expertise with the game. The findings describe how content, style, and amount of communication differ between novice and expert teams; whether those differences relate to experience with the game, experience as a team, or both; and whether differences in communication relate to team performance under pressure. This work demonstrates methods that can be built on to explore whether these same communication patterns and solutions can effectively transfer across domains in the interest of training for safety and performance in higher consequence contexts.

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

In the fall quarter of 2016, the University of California, Irvine (UCI) varsity *League of Legends* (LoL) [42] team held its first practice. That first season they won the West Conference playoffs. The next season they were national champions [33]. That same fall, I began my first year as a UCI Informatics Ph. D. student. Over the next six years, I was lucky enough to witness some of the best performing teams in their respective domains practice their crafts and perform under pressure. I got to watch and participate in the formation and development of new teams, which through failure, perseverance, and practice grew into high performing collectives. They range from world-class lab groups learning what it means to create knowledge together, to the campus's first women's saber fencing squad in years – who I was fortunate enough to coach to an eventual first place finish in the 2018-2019 season of the Intercollegiate Fencing Conference of Southern California [63]<sup>1</sup> – to one of the first collegiate scholarship esports teams in the world. These teams worked in wildly different domains. They performed different tasks toward different goals under different pressures on different time scales. They used differently. But they all talked. Through face-to-face meetings, emails,

 $<sup>{}^{1}</sup>I$  am proud enough of this to cite the archive where interested readers can find these results.

and all genres of media, each of these teams communicated to strategize, to coordinate, and to improve at their respective craft.

In Sebanz, Bekkering, and Knoblich's [103] words, "the ability to coordinate our actions with those of others is crucial for our success as individuals and as a species." As work and play increasingly happen in synchronous online teams, the potential for coordinated action is growing. Understanding what our teammates are doing, thinking, and attending to at any given moment, though, is harder when teammates are working through digital networks as opposed to face-to-face [91].

The first project I was assigned as a new graduate student was to preform a case study of that varsity LoL team in its first year. My instructions were simply to observe and take notes. I had an incredible amount of freedom. My weekly observations of those former and future professional players developing into one of the best collegiate teams in the nation grew into a line of inquiry first around elite team gameplay and later around team cognition more broadly. The findings from that case study focused on how that team communicated to distribute knowledge and cognitive work in highly competitive LoL play [96]. The methods I developed for the novel study reported on in chapter 4 are developed with the intent to allow study of team communication across domains. This work analyzes competitive LoL play towards two ends: (1) to contribute this context to the broader teams research literature and (2) to demonstrate the effectiveness of this methodology for describing team communication according to the characteristics outlined by prevailing frameworks of team cognition.

## 1.1 Guiding Questions

The goals of this dissertation are concerned with team communication's role in team performance and team development with methods that can apply to teams across domains to pursue more generalizable team cognition research. In light of those goals the questions guiding this work are two-fold:

- 1. How do teams communicate to perform in high pressure situations?
- 2. What differences exist between how expert and novice teams communicate under pressure?

### 1.2 Research Approach

The empirical study presented in this thesis was conceived after years of observations and interviews with elite and near-elite esports players, coaches, and support staff (e.g. [96, 98, 109]). While conducting that research, I was also reading and reviewing research around computer supported cooperative work, team cognition, peer mentoring, and games for learning.

In the team science literature, there are a number of taxonomies that researchers developed to categorize teams by domain, task type, structure, or any of a number of other characteristics (e.g. [70, 102, 25, 111]). There are also intervention studies that ask a team in one domain to adopt practices from another domain (e.g. [13, 38, 101]). The taxonomies, however, are not built on findings from generalizable, empirical, cross-domain studies, and the interventions are not framed in terms of existing taxonomies. This paradox means that findings from rigorous studies have no bearing on design, training, or practice of teams with similar characteristics or under similar pressures that can, apparently, learn from each other, even if they work on different tasks in different domains.

While the study detailed in chapter 4 focuses on team communication in *League of Legends* [42] (LoL), the methods were purposefully designed to be useful for studying teams across domains toward a generalizable understanding of team communication and cognition under pressure. These methods aim to support more work toward taxonomic theory rooted in empirical data, allowing teams in disparate domains to share knowledge in pursuit of safety and performance. The aim of designing and using methods that can be implemented across domains is to work toward implications for research, design, and training.

## **1.3** Dissertation Overview

This first chapter provides an introduction to the context, high level research questions, and goals guiding this work. Chapter 2 provides background information and related research upon which this dissertation's theoretical and empirical work stands. Chapter 3 describes LoL play and the requisite teamwork, communication, and expertise required for the tasks inherent in elite competitive performance. Chapter 4 reports on a novel empirical study. This study is designed both to present a methodology that researchers can use to work toward rigorous, generalizable team science and to produce findings and discussion that advance ongoing conversations in the literature regarding the role of different kinds of team communication and expertise in team cognitive performance. Chapter 5 explicates the kinds of teams and teamwork that these data might generalize to and the theoretical arguments for future work with the methods described in chapter 4. Chapter 6 concludes this dissertation with summary discussion.

# Chapter 2

# Background & Related Work

## 2.1 Team Cognition

The first of the following two definitions describes team cognition by what it is. The second defines team cognition mostly by what it is not. Together they provide a complete picture of what the study of team cognition is trying to understand:

Team cognition is critical to effective teamwork and team performance [22]. The current working definition of team cognition encompasses the organized structures that support team members' ability to acquire, distribute, store, and retrieve critical knowledge [5]. An ability to share crucial information, and know where in the team unique knowledge resides, allows members to anticipate and execute actions as a unit rather than as individuals. [34]

Cognition is conceptually distinct from both behavioral process and motivational states. Behavioral process describes synchronization of joint actions, information sharing, and backup behavior—all of which impact team performance by aligning the unique contributions of team members [79, 100]. Motivational states describe emotional attraction to the team, beliefs about its capability to perform tasks, and the like. On the other hand, cognition describes the knowledge architecture of the team. [22]

In short, it is how teams gather, store, and use information. The emergent processes that handle information are often observable in communication between team members. Such processes include, for example, determining where, when and how to distribute information; how to collect that information in the first place; deciding which information to attend to at any given moment; directing that attention; and coordinating activity around specific information. In high performing teams those processes are often highly structured. In elite LoL teams, which player is in charge of a given piece of information, which mode of communication (e.g. voice, text, or pings) that player uses to store that information, and when that player distributes that information are all predetermined by a cooperatively constructed set of rules [96]. The result of knowing and following those rules is an emergent architecture of knowledge acquisition, distribution, storage, and retrieval [34] that allows the team as a whole to make sense of and make use of far more information than the players ever could as individuals.

Team cognition, and especially Cooke, Gorman, Myers, and Duran's [18] Interactive Team Cognition, deals exclusively with the team level of analysis. In this approach, cognition is defined as an activity:

Physical properties of cognitive systems may include brains (neurons and glial cells), sensory apparatuses (receptor cells; neural pathways), and functional properties, including memory, perception, etc. Although certain properties are understood to be properties of cognitive systems, those properties alone do not constitute cognition. We argue that cognition is an activity that is realized when

the physical system (e.g. a nervous system) comes into active contact with the information in its environment, such that the cognitive system exhibits functional properties. Simply put, cognition is not a thing or a place in the body or the environment; it is an interaction between the two. This is not to deny the inner phenomena associated with cognition, such as memories and dreams. Just as cognitive artifacts linger in the environment (e.g. tools, language, books) so can cognitive artifacts linger in the body (e.g. memories). Nevertheless, these artifacts are retrospective and devoid of meaning without some original reference to their source: the dynamic intersection of body and environment. [18] (p. 266-267)

One implication of this view is that team cognitive processes are directly observable in the interactions between team members working on cognitive tasks. Analyzing cognition on the team level, then, does not require assumptions about the contents or inner workings of individuals' minds. It deals in observing collective processes, including team attention, transactive memory, shared mental models, and macrocognitive collective problem-solving. Team attention will be discussed in a later section. Transactive memory systems, shared mental models, and macrocognition are discussed in this section as examples of some of the processes that comprise team cognition. Each of them are developed through team interactions, and each can be observed in team communication.

#### 2.1.1 Transactive memory systems

Socially situated team cognitive processes for information storage and retrieval may also be referred to as a transactive memory system [85]. A transactive memory system, first proposed by Wegner [123], develops when members of a group have "a shared awareness of who knows what" (p. 60) [85] to ensure the group as a whole does not lose important knowledge even

though no individual member can remember all of the available information. Moreland, Argote, & Krishnan's [85] experimental findings bolster the claim that there are emergent group features that cannot be accounted for by simply combining the individual cognitive resources of group members. In an experiment, they divided participants into groups of three to assemble an AM radio together. In one condition the three group members trained together before attempting to assemble the radio, while in the other, the group members trained separately and only came together when it was time to begin the trial. Importantly, the training sessions for all participants were identical save for whether they were alone or with their group mates. The researchers' hypothesis was that training together, and in the process developing a transactive memory system, would lead to better recall of the correct procedure and fewer errors in assembling the radio. Indeed those were their findings.

In a second experiment, the researchers attempted to replicate those results with a similar procedure and the addition two new conditions to allow evaluation of alternative explanations for those in the group training condition to outperform their counterparts in the individual training condition. These alternatives included group formation, since newly formed groups tend to perform worse than well-established groups, and strategic learning of how to overcome coordination problems, since training together could encourage group members to learn strategies that improve performance in groups regardless of knowing who possesses what information. The first new condition matched the individual training condition with an added team-building exercise. The second new condition matched the group training condition except the group assignments changed between the training session and the trial session, so that everyone in this condition trained in groups but none of them trained with members of their trial session group. Participants in the former condition had an opportunity to begin group formation but did not get to develop a transactive memory system, while participants in the latter condition had an opportunity to learn strategies to overcome coordination problems in groups and even had an opportunity to develop a transactive memory system, but that system was made irrelevant by the scrambling of groups for the trial session. The only statistically significant difference in group performance between conditions in this experiment was that the groups that trained together and stayed together for the trial recalled more of the procedure and made fewer errors assembling their radios than groups in any of the other three conditions. These results strongly support the claim that having a transactive memory system mediates group performance.

Transactive memory explains a portion of group performance that is not measurable on the individual level of analysis. Establishing where specific information resides in a group and how to access it, though, requires only some of the group processes that comprise team cognition. The fact that transactive memory predicts group performance supports the idea that we can use the study of team cognition more generally to understand team behavior and performance, but also begs further examination of whether other aspects of team cognition have been found to explain portions of group performance.

#### 2.1.2 Shared mental models

The concept of shared mental models (SMM) describes another portion of the facets that make up team cognition. Where transactive memory is the system of knowledge allocation and retrieval, SMMs are the understandings and representations shared across teammates [82]. On a LoL team, for example, which player is responsible for knowing that the enemy mid laner's ultimate ability is unavailable for 60 more seconds is described by the transactive memory system, while the understanding that the enemy mid laner not having their ultimate ability means the team can more safely engage in a fight is part of a SMM.

To examine hypotheses about whether the presence of SMMs relates to team performance, Mathieu, Rapp, Maynard, and Mangos [82] interviewed and surveyed U.S. Navy air traffic controllers. They developed measures of task-related SMMs and team-related SMMs based on the interviews. Those instruments were used to measure consistency between team members' opinions about different approaches they might use in air traffic control (ATC) scenarios (task SMM) and about how one team member's actions would influence the rest of the ATC team (team SMM). The task SMM instrument presented participants with challenging scenarios and asked them to rate four potential courses of action based on how likely were to take each in response to the scenario. The team SMM instrument presented participants with courses of action taken by a coworker and asked them to rate each based on how positively or negatively they would impact other parts of their ATC team. Measurement of team effectiveness employed an instrument that asked participants for ratings of team technical expertise, teamwork, and team information exchange through a series of items each. In order to measure SMMs and not individually preferred courses of action, the focus of analysis for the SMM instruments is the consistency of ratings across a team, as opposed to how any one participant rated each item. While the researchers did not find a statistically significant relationship between team SMMs and team effectiveness, they did find significant correlation between task SMMs and team effectiveness. In their discussion, the researchers question whether their team SMM measure contained entirely valid items, given how consistently effective teams rated items on the task SMM instrument and how inconsistently they did so on the team SMM instrument. As reported, these results do still provide convincing evidence for the importance of shared task-related mental models to team performance in the domain of air traffic control, supporting the study of team cognition more generally as a framework to better understand team performance.

### 2.1.3 Macrocognition and collaborative problem-solving

While transactive memory systems and shared mental models tend to be studied in circumstances the teams being analyzed are generally familiar with, Fiore et al. [36] define the construct of macrocognition to address "the process of transforming internalized knowledge into externalized team knowledge," especially in less familiar environments [36]. Jentsch, Burke, Salas, Rosen, and Fiore [35] in their chapter on macrocognitive complex team problemsolving processes explicitly lay out subprocesses of this kind of team knowledge-building, including (a) uncertainty reduction about information, which requires pattern recognition and mental models; (b) uncertainty reduction about teammates, which requires sharing unique knowledge, recognition of expertise, and knowledge interoperability ("We conceptually define knowledge interoperability as the result of team members learning to represent the gathered information as knowledge objects, icons, or boundary objects" (p. 150)); (c) shared problem conceptualization, which requires visualization of data, knowledge sharing and transfer, developing common ground, and developing a team problem model; (d) consensus development, which requires option generation, intuitive decision-making, critical thinking, mental simulation, negotiation of solution alternatives, and storyboarding; and (e) outcome appraisal, which requires feedback interpretation and potentially replanning. Finally, Wiltshire, Butner, and Fiore [128] present findings from a study of phases in macrocognitive collaborative problem-solving (CPS). The goal of the study was to identify transitions between "distinct qualitative phases exhibited during effective problem-solving" [128]. To do so the researchers recorded the communications of 40 dyads working on NASA's Moonbase Alpha computer simulation, in which a meteor damages a moonbase and the dyad "must collaboratively solve the problem of repairing and restoring critical components of the system using a variety of tools to restore oxygen" [128]. These communications were coded by CPS processes like those detailed by Jentsch, Burke, Salas, Rosen, and Fiore [35]. Analysis involved making a time series of those coded transcripts and calculating entropy along each time series. Greater entropy in this context means more variability in the sequence of codes in that time period. Peaks in entropy between low entropy periods, then, are interpreted to be transitions between phases of collaborative problem-solving.

To better understand the meaning of this calculation, consider the following example. Assume that there is a communication series where there are only two possibilities: knowledge request and knowledge provision. If there were a case where the probability was 1 for a single communication code (e.g. knowledge request), then there would be a probability of 0 for all other codes. If we were to plug these values into the equation we would get a very low or 0 value. There is no variability in the sequence of values and it is, therefore, highly ordered. Recall that higher entropy is associated with more disorder and lower entropy coincides with more order. Now consider a case where there is an equal probability of observing any one of the communication codes. The entropy value would be maximized, representing very high disorder, and perhaps randomness, because we can say with very little certainty that one state or another will be exhibited. [128] (p. 142)

In other words, each phase (e.g. "knowledge construction, team problem model, team consensus, and evaluation revision" [128]) in CPS during the task is characterized by an orderly distribution of certain processes (i.e. little variability of codes, and therefore relatively low entropy) and the transitions between phases are characterized by disorder as the team shifts to a new set of processes that vary greatly from the processes of the previous phase (i.e. lots of variability of codes, and therefore relatively high entropy).

Indeed every single team showed robust peaks indicating separate phases of CPS. Furthermore, every single code varied significantly across epoch time, leading the researchers to infer that there is consistency in when (i.e. during which phase) each process is employed. In addition to identifying CPS phases, Wiltshire, Butner, and Fiore [128] assessed performance in terms of how long it took the dyad to restore life support, how much oxygen the dyad was able to restore, and how many objects the dyad was able to repair. Average peak entropy significantly correlated with worse performance in these three areas. In other words, the more order a dyad was able to maintain in which processes they employed when transitioning between CPS phases, the better they performed in Moonbase Alpha. Again an aspect of team cognition, specifically complex collaborative problem-solving, has been found to help explain team performance.

Transactive memory systems, shared mental models, and macrocognition each describe a part of team cognition, and the presence of each in a team has explanatory power when it comes to team performance. The fact that they are all inherent parts of any team that acts as a single cognitive unit distinguishes them from the practices explored in the next subsection. In fact, for a team that does not act as a single cognitive unit – that does not possess these aspects of team cognition – the following practices would likely do little for performance. The hypothesis arises, then, that team cognition has an influence on the relationship between the following practices and team performance, as illustrated in figure 2.1.

## 2.2 Team Performance across Domains

A number of practices have been found to correlate with team performance across multiple domains. These practices include consistent and structured communication, purposeful role differentiation, spatial and temporal coordination, status distinctions between team members, and strategies for managing stressful situations. Note that these are not the characteristics that define the kind of isomorphic teams under analysis. Those defining characteristics deal with the structures and processes inherent to teams in this category. These practices that predict team performance are behaviors that teams can enact but that are not inherent to their work.

Figure 2.1 illustrates how team behavior is comprised of both domain-specific practices and more general practices that apply to teamwork in isomorphic teams across domains. This section explores each of the more general practices that have been found to predict



Figure 2.1: Team cognition connects to team performance through its manifestation in team behavior. Aspects of team cognition are observable in and influence the effectiveness of collective behaviors, as indicated by the overlap between the cognitive unit of analysis box and the behavior arrow.

performance and offers examples of how they can influence performance in esports. Note that these behaviors originate on the team level of analysis. This characteristic of figure 2.1 is intended to emphasize that, while there are certainly individual practices that comprise team behavior, each team member is on the same level of analysis as the tools in their task environment. In other words, the team, comprised of people, technology, and artifacts produced during a task, is the cognitive unit in this approach. The interactions between team members, other team members, and information in the team's environment are what comprise team cognition, as opposed to simply the sum of the cognitive processes in the individual team members' heads. The behaviors enacted by the team as a result of these team cognitive processes then result in the team's performance on a given task.

### 2.2.1 Team Communication

Better understanding how teams communicate under stress could have implications for team training and safety beyond the world of competitive video games. Looking at how communication relates to performance is not new. Researchers have highlighted how particular communication practices, like checklists, make aircraft navigation [61] and patient care safer [13]. Catchpole et al. even translated Formula 1 pit crew communication structures to improve information transfer between surgery and ICU teams during patient handoff [13]. In doing so, they reduced technical errors and information handover omissions, all while shortening the duration of handovers. Teams in disparate domains, then, can benefit from similar communication practices under similar pressures.

N. Taylor's [113] ethnographic study of a competitive Halo 3 [10] team found that competitive players value consistent communication as a factor of successful performance. He describes an interaction in which one player, named Shadow, is giving another feedback after a game, and both players tacitly reinforce the importance of in-game communication, despite the fact that they disagree about the quality of communication in the game that just ended:

After the match, Shadow criticizes one of the team's members for not being loud enough. "When you do badly don't be quiet – you weren't talking!" he says, leaning in after some seconds trying to get the other player's attention. When the other player defends himself, claiming "I was yelling," Shadow replies that the only player he heard making callouts was "OldSchool," another player on the team. This interaction suggests a shared conception about the importance of "being loud" to successful play: Shadow's critique, and the other player's defense, suggests that the team lost in part because one player wasn't audible enough in his callouts. [113] (p. 262) Neither player in that interaction, however, emphasizes the need for discipline and structure in in-game communication. Given the emphasis on structured communication in esports and teams research, one potential explanation for its absence in this interaction is that the players value any communication over no communication, leaving room for refinement for when they have everyone actively contributing. In fact, professional PlayerUnknown's Battlegrounds [20] player Kaymind, when asked about how his team handles situations where communications get too chaotic, responded, "When one of us feel we realize, 'Alright, it's getting too messy.' You just say 'Reset!' " [126]. Kaymind's teammate, Nerf, elaborated that hearing reset "makes everyone stop thinking about what they're [individually] doing and then just refocus and come together" [126]. Nerf and Kaymind's team is known for sending one or two members across the map as scouts, and they stand by this strategy. Nerf is not, then, talking about coming together spatially. The refocusing he describes is a communicationand attention-based process in which the shotcaller either gives a command to coordinate the team's activity or starts a discussion to collect all of the information the team currently has about enemy positions and their options for future positioning. This predetermined cue demands a return to structure and joint attention from a state of disordered, individual focus. It gives the team the ability to recentralize executive control of attention when it grows too scattered and overloads each individual player's ability to attend to relevant information and make decisions.

Gorman et al. [45] studied those effects between the behavioral level of analysis and the neural level of analysis in teams of U.S. Navy Submarine School students undergoing submarine piloting and navigation training. The researchers found that in more experienced teams, changes in communication patterns occur before changes in the neural patterns (i.e. changes in patterns of electroencephalography readings) of team members. These findings are in line with Nerf and Kaymind's description of their process of resetting: first the style of communication changes, then the team comes together. To find these results, Gorman et al. [45], collected two kinds of data – EEG readings and communications – over three phases of training – brief, scenario, and debrief. From the EEG readings, the researchers established individual engagement over time<sup>1</sup>, which were in turn aggregated into a discrete team-level state, called the neurophysiological symbol (NS), once per second. Calculating the entropy of NS over time, Gorman et al. [45] found this measure of changes in neurophysiology at the team level to correlate with changes in training phase and that mean NS entropy predicts team experience level. To analyze communications, the researchers used latent semantic analysis (LSA), a means of analyzing linguistic content for how strongly it relates to a particular domain of knowledge. They found that communication patterns also covaried with training phase and predicts team experience. To test for cross-level effects between neurophysiology and communication patterns in these data, they used lagged cross-correlation functions which found that "increases in the amount of domain-specific content of utterances (large vector lengths) tend to precede a more flexible neurophysiological distribution (high entropy)" (p. 191) in more experienced teams, while neither changes in neurophysiology nor in communication consistently precede the other for less experienced teams. In other words, for experienced teams, neurophysiological state tends to change before communication patterns, but for inexperienced teams neurophysiology and communication patterns are only related to each other at each timestamp. In short, the major contribution of this work is in finding cross-level relationships between the neurophysiological level and the semantic level in teams.

This understanding that we can observe cross-level effects, and furthermore that cross-level effects can predict team experience level provides a more complete view of team performance than if we took team performance only to be the result of individuals' cognitive processes. Joint action research provides us with the individual cognitive "mechanisms that appear to be crucial for the successful coordination of action" [103], such as representation sharing, action prediction, and joint attention. It is focused on understanding the cognitive abilities required of individuals to successfully coordinate with others. This work focuses on the team

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Using software trained on a separate dataset.

level of analysis, so while those mechanisms are clearly crucial for high performance teams, the practices highlighted in this section are not performed by individual members in service of coordination. Rather, they are performed by the team as a whole. Moreland, Argote, and Krishnan [85] explain this difference clearly in the introduction to their chapter on socially shared cognition and group performance:

There are two general ways in which such cognitive processes could be studied [62]. Most researchers focus on cognition about groups, studying such phenomena as self-categorization [7], outgroup homogeneity effects [65], the group attribution error [1], and so on. Their work explores how individuals process information about groups and their members (including themselves). A few researchers, however, focus on more complex phenomena involving cognition by groups. Their work explores how groups process information for their members. Information processing by groups requires socially shared cognition, that is, collaboration among members who seek to encode, interpret, and recall information together rather than apart. (p. 57)

The fact that these group effects can be observed between distinct levels of analysis – semantic patterns and neural patterns – supports the use of communication as an operationalization of team cognition [18]. In this sense, Kaymind's "reset" cue is part of a cognitive process to manage attention on the team level when individual members can no longer maintain it.

### 2.2.2 Roles, status, and team structure

In Reeves, Brown, and Laurier's [95] description of expert Counter-Strike [121] play, they describe a scenario in which teammates form a line to move down and clear a hallway. A player's position in this line, they explain, dictates what they are expected to do if they spot

an enemy. A player in front, having the clearest line of sight and being the most exposed, is to shoot first, while a player in back, covered by teammates, is to keep tabs on their positions, keep distance, and choose shots carefully to avoid shooting teammates in the back [95]. The role of each player on the team is therefore determined by the situation in that moment, and that role determines what a player attends to so that the team as a whole can attend to as much task-relevant information as possible. After all, if a player in front is trying to keep track of the positions of the teammates behind, and a player in back is trying to be the first to spot an enemy down the hall, it is much more likely that the player in front, who is both more exposed and better positioned to do damage, will be late to react to an enemy, and the player in back, who has teammates in their way, will hit a teammate when they aim for the enemy.

Situational roles, then, are determined by the task, but less transient roles – bestowed on team members because of abilities, status, or organizational goals and processes - can influence performance just as easily. Whether a team member has high or low status in the group can determine the amount and content of communication they receive. Status can also influence how well their ideas are received by other team members [27]. In their review of research on teamwork in extreme environments, Driskell, Salas, and Driskell [27] make it clear that the process of determining status differs from the coerciveness of power. The allocation of status is a cooperation between group members, and the effects of status differentiation between teammates can increase cooperative practices in stressful circumstances. As a task grows in difficulty those with high status become more accepting of input from lower status teammates, and those with low status rely more heavily on their high status teammates' decision-making [27]. In other words, in teams with status differentiations, members look for feedback and direction from their team as tasks get more difficult. This phenomenon can be key to success, because it is likely that the knowledge needed to succeed distributed unevenly across the team. Differences in status can encourage members to rely on their teams transactive memory system and knowledge-building processes to solve problems together, rather than separating from the team's conversations and trying to perform a task with only the information available to one teammate.

While status can create an implicit hierarchy, explicitly defined roles and team structure are common characteristics for teams that work in high pressure environments. According to Salas, Rosen, and King's [101] principles for effective teamwork in emergency medicine, one of the benefits of well-defined roles and structure is that each part of the team gains a better understanding of the tasks and abilities of their teammates. Even without having performed their teammates jobs in the past, knowing other members general tasks "allows team members to formulate accurate expectations of their teammates' actions and needs during high-stress work episodes" [101]. This hypothesis is supported by research on how turnover affects group learning and performance. Devadas and Argote [23] (via [85]), for example, found that clearly defining roles reduced the well-established penalty to overall productivity after new members join a team. It is particularly noteworthy that strengthening team structure seems to be more effective at mitigating the negative impact of turnover than task-relevant training for the new members [2] (via [85]). These researchers conducted an experiment in which they assigned groups to make origami swans. One condition experienced no turnover, a second condition experienced some turnover, and a third condition experienced some turnover but the newcomers were trained in folding swans before entering the group. There was no significant difference in the detriment to productivity experienced by the two conditions that had turnover, even with training for one condition's newcomers and without for the other's. In Salas, Rosen, and King's [101] words, having clearly defined roles and structure "allows team members to formulate accurate expectations of their teammates" actions," because they share understanding of their teammate's goals and context.

Popular esports can differ from each other in how higher level roles are assigned. In some, roles are designed into the game. A LoL team, for example, has five distinct roles – top laner, jungler, middle laner, support, and bottom laner – each of which has different strengths and

responsibilities, regardless of the level of competition of any given game. Counter-Strike: Global Offensive [121], on the other hand, has no such structure coded into the game, and competitive teams have instead developed common roles – entry fragger, second man in, AWPer, lurker, and support, to name a few – to organize plays and develop strategies around. The fact that the most competitive teams universally have well-defined roles for each player, even in games where no such structure is part of the game design, supports the argument for roles and team structure having an influence on performance.

### 2.2.3 Spatial and temporal coordination

For teams that work synchronously under temporal pressure, coordination in time and space has an established correlation with performance. The best evidence for this in competitive video games is the work of Drachen et al. [26] analyzing the movement of Dota 2 [21] teams of varying skill levels. Drachen et al. [26] collected position data for every player in a game for 196 games across four skill tiers. They then analyzed those data in terms of how often team members moved from one zone on the map to another and how far apart teammates were from each other over the course of the game. They found that better teams kept teammates closer together and had teammates swap positions on the map more frequently over the course of a game.

While these operationalizations of spatial and temporal coordination may be unique to Dota 2, the relationship between the constructs of coordination and performance is not. In addition to the obvious examples of sports teams like Formula 1 pit crews, for whom tightly coordinated action is the explicit goal [13], evidence from cockpits [107] and operating rooms [101], make it clear that many errors occur when team members' activity is not linked in time and space. Kane and Luz [66], for example, analyzed how multidisciplinary medical teams meet and operate as a system. Through a combination of observations of team meet-

ings, semi-structured interviews with permanent team members, and questionnaires at the beginning of the study and after one year Kane and Luz [66] report that without the coordinated completion of tasks in a timely manner, "the system will fail" (p. 525). They note three issues of temporal coordination that are crucial to the team's work: "the synchronization of work routines, extra time needed for case discussion in teleconference and time to coordinate materials" (p. 526). When the rhythm of the team meetings and team's work is not synchronized with that of individual members, the entire system takes more time than its members can afford to spend not working on specific tasks (Kane Luz, 2006). From their study of a redesigned hospital emergency department, Valentine and Edmondson [120] illustrate scaffolding of effective coordination for transient teams and explain how it can improve team performance. This study utilized both qualitative interviews and a quantitative performance impact analysis of the pods system that came with the redesign. Importantly, the scaffolds highlighted include clear boundedness to who belongs on the team, a clear set of roles for the team, and collective responsibility of everyone on the team for the results of their collective work. Except for collective responsibility, which for more permanent teams is often assumed, these attributes reflect practices this section has already discussed as relating to team performance across domains. Boundedness and role sets are both vital to the team structures described previously, and their positive influence on group coordination described by Valentine and Edmondson [120] point to mediating relationships that may exist between the practices discussed in this paper. The quantitative data from this study centers on the performance impact of the implementation of pods – physical locations that force spatial and temporal coordination. Indeed, pod use was significantly correlated with speedier work without an increase of errors in patient care.

While further research narrowing in on transfer is obviously needed, these reports of higher performance correlating with spatial and temporal coordination in both competitive video games and emergency medicine reinforce a central argument of this work: lessons learned in the pursuit of improved performance in teams could help in seemingly disparate domains, if the teams within those domains share certain characteristics. Examples of specific characteristics are discussed in detail in chapter 5.

#### 2.2.4 A note on stress and team cognition

The most important times to perform well are often also the most stressful. Stress can impact team performance by narrowing attention onto individuals and away from team processes [27]. Driskell, Salas, and Driskell [27] note that teams under stress tend to communicate less as a result of their narrower focus. Less communication means that team cognitive processes and states that emerge through communication and interaction between teammates lose their structure and frequency. Without that interaction, a team is no longer working on cognitive tasks as a unit. Instead, each member tries to solve problems on their own and coordination and strategy fall to the wayside. These situations illustrate why cohesion and structure can be so closely tied to performance. A cohesive team will maintain a team perspective more easily. A team with a well-defined structure and understanding of each member's role will continue to solve problems as a single cognitive body instead of splitting into individuals separately trying to solve the same problem using only their individual attentional resources. This is especially true if a dynamic situation calls for team members to swap roles or otherwise deviate from their usual structure. Team cognition is not a property or a strategy, so it is incongruous to talk about how having more or less team cognition relates to performance. Instead, the logical claim is that teams whose members more frequently interact with each other and the available information – in other words teams that display team-level cognitive processing – are more likely to perform well under stress [27].

## 2.3 Team Taxonomies

Teams research has produced a number of team taxonomies, like those described by Wildman et al. [127], which detail characteristics and task types to establish categories of teams that transcend the fields in which they work. In parallel with those theoretical efforts, intervention studies and experimental designs have successfully translated findings across domains, like Catchpole et al.'s [13] work decreasing errors during patient handover between Operating Room and Intensive Care Unit teams using data from Formula 1 pit crews and aircraft navigation. It is rare, however, for studies that attempt to generalize team practices across domains to discuss their findings in terms of taxonomic theory.

In 1973, Newell called on cognitive science and artificial intelligence research

to focus a series of experimental and theoretical studies around a single complex task, the aim being to demonstrate that one has a sufficient theory of a genuine slab of human behavior. All of the studies would be designed to fit together and add up to a total picture in detail. [88]

In 2017, Gray asserted that "games represent the type of experimental paradigm that Newell was advocating and ... provide the technologies and data needed to realize his vision" [48]. Taken together, the theoretical and methodological suggestions I rely on in this work agree that elite esports play is such a setting.

While the study reported in chapter 4 focuses on communication under pressure in *League* of Legends (LoL) teams, esports teams from different games can display distinct characteristics. In other words, while LoL teams may belong to a certain category of team described in chapter 5, teams from other esports may share characteristics with other kinds of teams. Delineating the team characteristics necessitated by different genres of esports, inducing a taxonomy that encompasses the variety of these characteristics, and testing findings across
domains according to that taxonomy will both expand our methodological tool set for studying high performance teams and refine our theoretical understanding of generalization across domains.

### 2.4 Esports

Esports' growth creates opportunities for studying people and systems on a massive scale. Research around esports, however, is still in its nascency. In a review of esports research [97], my colleagues and I identified the disciplines and research trends prominent in the literature so far. These findings provide context for my call for more rigorous, generalizable work using esports as a research environment and experimental paradigm.

#### 2.4.1 Disciplines Studying Esports

Each discipline publishing work around esports is included in this section to give a complete background of esports research. Cognitive Science, Informatics, and Sociology are presented first for their relevance to the present study.

#### Cognitive science

Research in cognitive science and psychology has focused on player performance and cognitive and behavioral differences between novices and experts. Until recently, this work had relied on naturalistic observations to better understand the cognitive processes required for competitive play. The earliest research explored how competitive players understand the games they play and the contexts they play them in [3, 94], and through these explorations, a trend developed of studying what sets the elite players apart. Huang, Yan, Cheung, Nagappan, and Zimmermann [59], for example, collected data on habit formation in StarCraft II [30] players. Expert StarCraft II (SC2) players, according to Huang et al. [59], develop habits in consistent ways, yet those habits can be unique to individual players. In other words, the same methods for developing good in-game habits at a high skill level are used by many players, but which habits they develop differ by player.

Experimental work on cognition in esports is less common but growing, as noted in W. D. Gray's [49] call for action games to be "an experimental paradigm for Cognitive Science" as a context in which to explain complex human behavior. P. B. Gray, Vuong, Zava, and McHale's [47] experiment studying hormone levels during *League of Legends* [42] play exemplifies the foundation building required for competitive video games to become a central experimental paradigm for cognitive science. In the 26 subjects who played against human players, P. B. Gray et al. (2018) found no significant difference in testosterone, cortisol, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), androstenedione, or aldosterone levels when compared to the control group of 17 subjects who played against the computer. In both groups, aldosterone levels decreased during play, and as games against other people lengthened, testosterone, DHEA, and androstenedione levels increased. In short, these are null results. The authors, however, identify the consistent cortisol and decreasing aldosterone levels as indicators that the context of their study — "an informal, familiar location playing against known competitors" [47] — facilitated less competitive, more relaxed play. Gray and colleagues suggest future work uses a more competitive venue, highlighting the nascency of esports research.

#### Informatics

Esports research in informatics collects from a wide variety of data sources including game telemetry and user-generated play data [29], physiological data [86], and text mining [90] in combination with observations to analyze in-game performance, team dynamics and formation, and interactions between players. Esports' technology-mediated nature gives researchers this ability to collect massive amounts of data at various levels of analysis. For example, Low-Kam, Raissi, Kaytoue, and Pei [76] collected player inputs from replays of 90,678 professional SC2 matches and developed a machine learning algorithm to detect unexpected strategies in those data in the interest of informing models of player behavior. Work that focuses on team performance tends to rely more heavily on mixed-methods approaches. S. J. Kim, Keegan, Park, and Oh [68] demonstrate work that is representative of the team expertise research generally. They collected LoL game data from the Riot application programming interface (API) to access performance metrics, like kills, deaths, assists, wins, losses, and rankings, in addition to which champions each team selected in which order. The researchers also conducted interviews and focus groups with participants to provide context for their quantitative findings. Both the gameplay data and the participants' responses supported the hypotheses that (1) team performance is correlated with how familiar team members are with their assigned role, (2) team performance is correlated with the extent to which team members' roles complement each other, and (3) individual performance is correlated with a player's likelihood of selecting a role that compliments their team over a role that they are more proficient with.

Some informatics work around team dynamics in esports focuses solely on social interactions between players, largely ignoring in-game performance. Freeman and Wohn [40] developed an interview study to understand how esports players give and receive social support among themselves. The study of team performance, approached from these varied perspectives, exemplifies of informatics' multidisciplinary nature.

#### Sociology

Much of the work in the sociology of esports has explored questions around live esports events and the interactions between audience and gameplay [44, 118]. T. L. Taylor and Witkowski [118] demonstrate the kind of generative exploration possible in a live esports context. In their own words, live events "give us an opportunity to explore the ways games can be both contained within larger cultural activities and yet can also cycle back and shape how people think about their leisure time and identity more generally." In this vein of viewing games and esports as both a vehicle for and result of cultural change, they highlighted the growing numbers of women in competitive gaming spaces. Sociologists have focused more on gender and identity than on any other single esports research topic for its salience and social relevance to the esports community. The first of these papers on gender explored the presence of women in competitive video games [9, 115], but the field has recently adopted a focus on the perceptions of gender discourse in esports communities, as shown by J. Kim's (2017) [69] discussion of LoL players' perceptions of differences between genders in video game competition and of solutions for narrowing the gender gap in esports.

Articles in this line of inquiry have approached gender by juxtaposing the roles of women and the portrayal of masculinity in esports. For instance, researchers have asked about "invisible women" in competitive gaming [9], what roles women tend to take on in esports communities [115], and attitudes of professional players toward women, gender identity, and hypermasculine culture [99, 115, 116, 130, 133]. Although these questions lead researchers to conclude that gender inequality is currently a facet of esports [69], they also see esports as an opportunity to encourage a culture of diversity [115].

#### Business

The business literature dates the birth of esports back to the rise of the competitive scene of early 1980's arcades (Borowy Jin, 2013). Its growth is attributed to the value of the experience economy for consumers, the popularity of video games, the social recognition of video game players, and advances in technology [6] [105]. The identification of these factors has helped in exploring motivations for esports consumption, understanding the networks and organizations surrounding the players, and designing effective marketing techniques [53, 73, 106, 124]. This research is most often done in a naturalistic setting using surveys, interviews, and case studies. For example, Hamari and Sjöblom [53] apply the Motivation Scale for Sports Consumption (MSSC) to measure motivation for esports consumption. MSSC has been used to measure motivation for traditional media and sports generally, so their results in a new context can be compared to previous work in more widely studied areas [53]. Esports has evolved into a complex ecosystem of consumers, players, organizations, and other stakeholders, where players and consumers are the most common subjects of study for business researchers. Seo and Jung [106] conceptualize esports consumption as an "assemblage of consumption practices, where consumers actualise and sustain the eSports phenomenon through their engagement with the interconnected nexuses of playing, watching and governing of eSports" (p. 637).

The convergence of Western and Asian esports cultures [105] has led to a focus on the internationality of esports. Parshakov and Zavertiaeva [92], for example, examine the relationship between a country's tradition of playing esports, its country-level characteristics (e.g. Hofstede's cultural dimensions), and the performance of players from that country by using tournament prize data. Other studies, however, have narrowed their research by analyzing both players and consumers in specific countries. The literature has expanded over the years from China being the only region analyzed [112, 132] to including research about communities in regions like South America [84] and Europe [75, 108].

#### Sports science

A group of sports science researchers interested in the implications of competitive video gaming are categorizing esports within the frame of traditional sports. Most publications from sports science are agenda setting—by using the standard of traditional sports, they are evaluating the potential of esports to be considered sports. Early discussion around cybersport [56] defined characteristics by which competitive computer games can be considered sports, namely how the immersion and interactivity of computer games can emulate and require skilled physicality. As work reconciling esports with traditional sports continued, Jonasson and Thiborg [64] inserted esports in Guttmann's [50] model of modern sports. This discussion continues in sports science, as illustrated by Hallmann and Giel's [52] summary of previous work providing the following criteria for esports to be categorized as sports: physical activity, recreation, competitive elements, organizational structure, and social acceptance of esports.

Empirical studies of esports in sports science are mostly case studies utilizing qualitative methods. Rambusch, Jakobsson, and Pargman [94], for example, conducted interviews with players at World Cyber Games (WCG) and discussed important elements shaping and influencing gameplay in Counter-Strike [121] on four analytical levels: (1) player actions during play, (2) interactions within and between teams, (3) players and fans on the Internet, and (4) the Counter-Strike gaming scene. These empirical studies tend to focus more on how players engage in esports competitions and less on whether participation in esports can be considered sporting.

#### Law

Law in esports is rooted in concern for how concepts of copyright and intellectual property are applied to virtual worlds. Law papers are primarily analyses of how a certain moral concept or right is affected or applied in the esports space. By tracing existing cases and compiling tests, authors discuss how legal concepts may influence or shape the governance of esports. Writing on how the virtual–analog division in esports creates a new opportunity for shaping Internet law, Burk [11] asserted that "copyright is likely to be the lynchpin in any dispute." Other legal concepts such as the right to publicity or rights derived from necessary associations in the space, gambling law, or international accommodations for sports will all be relevant as well, but governance or legal thought associated with esports must address the ownership of the game and the debate of where creativity and ownership lie. These have manifested as cases debating who has the right to use player-created avatars, who owns mods to a game, who may broadcast tournaments of gameplay. Historically, ownership—and responsibility—of games and associated products have been granted to companies, with player contributions classified as adaptations or derivative works [11]. While this leaves companies with some control over player-generated content, for instance, it also makes them at least partially responsible for the gambling, doping, and cheating that go on around esports. For this reason, classification of esports as sport or computer game is a frequent point of discussion in esports law because sports enjoy special accommodations in federal and international laws. As Holden, Kaburakis, and Rodenberg [57] noted, the legitimacy convenience granted by classifying esports as sports would, similarly, come with oversight; there seems to be tacit agreement that esports is en route to classification and regulation similar to traditional sports, although formal litigation models have only been suggested, not established in any state at time of writing.

#### Media studies

Research in media studies has focused on relationships between esports, sports, and media; the definition and delimitation of esports; the methodologies used to study esports; and the practice of live streaming gameplay. Themes such as the roles of physical exertion, spectatorship, historical precedence, and interaction are analyzed in an effort to classify esports. In these analyses, comparisons are often drawn between esports and chess, poker, and other traditional sports (e.g. [58]). The existence of esports across digital and physical spaces is possible, according to Hutchins [60], because of media, communication, and information flow. T. L. Taylor [117] also points out that "esports has encoded in its very nature a deep rooting in both technology and media" (p. 210).

Media studies researchers examine the esports community through the phenomenon of live

streaming in the interest of exploring how the community is formed and how it interacts with streamers (e.g. [12, 24, 54, 67]). Based primarily on qualitative data such as interviews, observations, and content analysis, these descriptive papers examine the experience of being in various roles in the esports ecosystem. Before 2012, research took place around events celebrated in physical spaces, like the WCG (e.g. [60]). For example, Cheung and Huang [15] created a taxonomy of spectators and described spectatorship not as simply watching the game but as actively engaging with the community. The spectators described here are watching either from a physical venue or on dedicated video-sharing channels. Since then, technological advances, specifically live streaming and platforms like Twitch, generated a new media phenomenon which has been the primary focus of research for the last several years [12, 67]. The merged space between the in-person and online worlds has become a focus of the field, as seen in T. L. Taylor's [117], Whalen's [125], and Burroughs and Rama's [12] works discussing the distinctions and lack thereof between what is virtual and what is real in the context of streaming.

#### 2.4.2 Trends across Disciplines

#### **Contested definitions**

Across disciplines, esports have been defined as competitive gaming, computer-mediated sport, or interactive spectatorship [39], with varying degrees of emphasis on physicality, computer mediation, institutional infrastructure, and spectatorship. Defining esports is a nontrivial debate that underlies scholars' framing of their research.

Competitive gaming is a widely accepted description of esports. Regardless of whether esports are classified as sports, their status as video games rooted in principles of game design is not contested. Proponents of this definition of esports do not consider the broadcast popularity and level of institutional infrastructure surrounding a game title to be factors in classifying a game as an esport [58]. Competitions can be held between amateurs and professionals, in a garage between friends or in a stadium between world-class teams. For esports titles that afford team play, scholars often focus on the formation and practices of teams (e.g. [41]) and how technology mediates team communication and gaming. Zang, Wu, and Li [132], for example, define esports as "a sport of wisdom between people with hitech software and hardware as sports equipment..." More recently, Hamari and Sjoblom [53] describe esports as "a form of sports where the primary aspects of the sport are facilitated by electronic systems; the input of players and teams as well as the output of the eSports system are mediated by human- computer interfaces" (p. 213). In these definitions, communication within a team or between competing teams is possible or enhanced because of the mediating technology.

Other definitions trivialize the role of technology, instead focusing on similarities with traditional sports. For example, one of the most cited definitions of esports is Wagner's [122]: Esport is "an area of sport activities in which people develop and train mental or physical abilities in the use of information and communication technologies." While Wagner himself equated esports to competitive computer gaming, in "On the Scientific Relevance of eSports" his definition of sports is inclusive of competitive gaming. In categorizing esports as sport, the physical motion of traditional sports is given less weight than the cultural significance and formal support of the activity. Support for this view of sports is growing as governing bodies emerge to guide developments in esports spaces and as "the development of a nascent professional infrastructure [includes] features familiar from the world of physical sports of entertainment, including tournaments, leagues, fans, teams, team owners, player contracts, sponsors, and the like" [117] (via [11]). Similarly, systems of prize and payment within a "professionalized context" [117] (via [8]) perpetuate the parallels between traditional sports and esports. These similarities make sports terminology useful for both players and researchers in talking about practices and issues in esports. Comparisons to traditional sports are also a useful measure of the scope of spectatorship. This perspective on esports emphasizes the union of media and competitive gaming by focusing on the community and technology of spectatorship that surrounds esports ([67]). The most precise definition is given by N. Taylor [114]:

E-sports involves the enactment of video games as spectator-driven sport, carried out through promotional activities; broadcasting infrastructures; the socioeconomic organization of teams, tournaments, and leagues; and the embodied performances of players themselves. [6, 55, 117, 114, 130]

Emergent platforms such as Twitch and YouTube have allowed streamers to serve not only as players but also as performers and entertainers. The levels of governance and organization that parallel that of sports is driven by a desire to establish the legitimacy of esports to the public, media, and investors because it is already "an important social and cultural instrument of the youth" [119]. This view highlights the cultural significance of socializing around play.

In short, esports are often defined as games, as sports, or as mass entertainment. These definitions are not mutually exclusive but stem from different frameworks for understanding esports. They also each have unique practical implications, like leading to the regulation of esports under the same laws that govern traditional sports.

#### Nature of expertise

Researchers in cognitive science, informatics, and sociology each study expertise in esports through different levels of analysis. Cognitive scientists are looking at the performance of individual players, who may or may not be nested in teams, and aim to identify constructs previously explored outside of esports that correlate with higher skill levels in competitive play. Huang and colleagues [59] summarized in the esports within the disciplines: Cognitive Science subsection exemplify this approach relying on practice, routine, and habit formation literature from contexts as disparate as construction work and chess to understand expert SC2 players' in-game behavior.

In informatics, more work has been published on expert teams than on individual performance. Informatics researchers often implement gameplay data analysis in search of optimal team compositions [46] and patterns in team play that correlate with in-game performance [72]. Pobiedina, Neidhardt, Moreno, Grad-Gyenge, and Werthner [93] and Nascimento, Melo, da Costa, and Marinho [87], for example, both use the team-level data available from game publishers' APIs to test hypotheses about what makes a strong team. They identify factors like role distribution, role selection, player experience, and teammate familiarity [93] and statistics like ward placements and neutral minion kills [87] as factors that correlate with how often a team wins.

Sociologists look at broader social structures to examine what goes into expertise beyond in-game performance. Witkowski [129], in her doctoral dissertation, includes a section on what it takes for players to make it to professional teams. While honing in-game mechanics is fundamental to professional play, she emphasizes the necessity for players to develop social, business, and tech savvy. From interviews and observations of these elite players, the author details the out-of-game work and knowledge necessary to be considered an expert:

Players spoke of the self-promotional work outside of the game that aided in their upward mobility: Recording game footage and minimally overlaying it with tactical voiceovers then placed on YouTube, winning a duelling tournament organized by a prominent blogger, participating on Arena specific forums as a knowledgeable poster, making extravagantly produced gaming movies for Warcraftmovies.com (using a video editing program and adding music, effects, and text), or attaining a spot as a regular blogger on one of the major Arena community pages are just some examples of the extracurricular busy work that experts have engaged in during their rise to the top. [129] (p. 71)

While cognitive science focuses on what expertise is for a competitive player, informatics on what it is for a team, and sociology on what it means outside the game, these differing views of what constitutes expertise are not in conflict. To encompass what an expert is in an esports community, we must account for each of these perspectives.

#### The state of nascent research

For now, much of esports research is naturalistic observation of ecosystems without intervention. As the field develops, we expect more experimentation to add to this body of exploratory and descriptive work. Surveys are common, but for many, the representativeness of their samples is difficult to assess. They are often limited in their scope to specific regions, age groups, or games in an effort to produce knowledge useful in a business context.

An advantage of this wealth of exploratory knowledge is that it has already produced research questions for experimental designs. For instance, is the relationship Leavitt, Keegan, and Clark [72] found between ping usage and player performance in LoL causal? What about the correlation they found between pings and deaths? Designing experiments that might help reconcile findings that we can only make inferences about will produce much work of interest to both the esports community and researchers' respective disciplines.

The amount of work using API data also continues to grow. The wealth of data we can capture without intervention allows for naturalistic data collection on a scale that would not otherwise be possible. Reliance on these APIs, though, means that the metrics we use to predict performance, for example, must be narrowly defined and restricted by the data available from an API. Many APIs offer massive amounts of game data but do not supply a few key statistics, like player position. Researchers have thus far either restricted their models to data that are available through an API or created their own tools for gathering more data locally, restricting their sample size to the number of players they can bring into a lab. Game publishers' fears of releasing too much data are well founded. Many have had issues with cheaters using game data to create tools that give them an unfair advantage. Finding solutions for industry to enable researchers to access richer data sets, though, would permit much less restricted models of player and team performance.

Esports research's nascency means there are still fundamental questions about how the field is unfolding. It means researchers involved in the early work – and those introducing the space to unfamiliar fields – have an opportunity to shape its growth. We can examine the assumptions made, like how esports is defined, and how those assumptions support or exclude people, ideas, generalizability, and specificity depending on what that definition considers part of the world of esports. Fields and individual researchers cannot avoid having lines of inquiry that are only concerned with a specific aspect of the ecosystem. They can, however, contextualize that focused work to avoid making communities and practices invisible that are fundamental to the creation and continued existence of their specific interest.

# Chapter 3

# Communication & Expertise in League of Legends

To provide an overview of how communication and expertise are related in *League of Leg*ends (LoL), this section is adapted from the findings of a paper I published in 2018 titled, Distributed cognition and temporal knowledge in *League of Legends* [96]. This paper reports on a case study of a team of former and future professional players in their first year of working as a team. The LoL overview that begins this section includes explanations of game mechanics, player roles, and team strategies necessary for parsing the data and findings.

# 3.1 League of Legends Overview

League of Legends, a multiplayer online battle arena (MOBA) developed and published by Riot Games, pits two teams of five against each other in a contest to destroy their opponent's base, or nexus. The map (appendix A) is a square with one team's base in the lower left corner and the other's in the upper right. Between the two bases are three lanes called the bottom lane, mid lane, and top lane. Before play begins, the two teams enter a draft phase in which each team bans five characters, or champions, that neither team will be able to use and picks five champions for their own use in the game. Once each player has selected their champion, play can begin.

Each champion has five champion-specific abilities, including one passive ability and one ultimate ability, which unlock and become more powerful as the player gains experience by killing enemies. An ultimate ability is generally a champion's most influential tool with the longest cooldown of any of their abilities. Each player also has two non-champion-specific summoner spells, which are useful abilities that take a long time to recharge but are available from the start of the game. The time it takes an ability or spell to recharge is called its cooldown time. Finally, to boost a champion's strength, a player can buy items with gold earned by killing enemies and neutral monsters.

Like on traditional sports teams, each player has a role: attack damage carry, support, mid laner, jungler, or top laner.

#### 3.1.1 Attack Damage Carry

The attack damage carry (ADC) is typically weak early on in the game, necessitating the help of their support to amass gold and experience, known as farming, by killing enemies and non-player characters (NPCs) quicker than their opponents without dying. As the game progresses, however, the ADC can become the most powerful player on the map, carrying their team to victory. The champions used for this role most often use ranged attacks so that they can stand behind their more durable teammates while still dealing damage to the enemy team.

#### 3.1.2 Support

The support (sup) accompanies the ADC in the bottom lane but may also leave their lane more often than their lane partner to help other teammates. The sup's goal early on is to ensure their ADC stays alive and outperforms the opposing ADC. They are also expected to place most of the team's vision wards, allowing teammates to see enemies and objectives on the minimap. Champions chosen to play sup can satisfy a range of needs depending on the rest of the team's composition and the opponents' champions. Some common strengths of support champions include the ability to tank or take a lot of damage in order to protect teammates, the ability to trap or stun enemies, or the ability to heal allies.

#### 3.1.3 Mid Laner

The mid laner (mid), like the ADC, is focused on outperforming their lane opponent early. They may roam to other lanes or help the jungler take an objective, since they are the laner with easiest access to the rest of the map. The most common champions for mid are mages, or champions with ranged abilities and attacks to add to the ranged damage of the ADC.

#### 3.1.4 Jungler

The jungler (jg) is the only player that does not have a position in any one lane. Instead, they travel through the jungle paths between lanes, killing neutral monsters and teaming up on enemies, known as ganking. By keeping tabs on the enemy jg, this player is also able to influence the game by taking objectives far away from their opponent's current position or mirroring their opponent's path to counter-gank, turning what the enemy thought would be an easy kill into a difficult fight.

#### 3.1.5 Top Laner

Early in the game, the top lane is often somewhat removed from the action on the rest of the map, so the top laner (top) focuses on farming and dueling their lane opponent. The champions chosen for top lane are commonly tanks or fighters, meaning they can take a lot of damage in a situation where the main damage dealers need someone to protect them while targeting the enemy.

### 3.1.6 Team Fights

When fights break out with multiple champions on each side, each player must position themself to make sure that their strengths can benefit their team and their weaknesses do not present their opponents with an opportunity. Correctly timing team fights and positioning, like most aspects of League, requires coordination on multiple timescales. Many minutes before a fight breaks out, the team must begin working to gain as much of an advantage as possible. This entails securing vision around the map, buying items, and positioning around their vision and their teammates so that they aren't separated if the enemy engages. Once the fight starts, coordinating movement such that the team collapses on the enemy together instead of one-by-one is crucial to ensuring no individual player gets ganged up on without any allies nearby to help. On a scale of microseconds, players have to time changes in position and combinations of attacks to capitalize on brief windows of opportunity presented by an opponent taking one step too close or a teammate distracting the enemy's damage dealers. Additionally, each player must be ready to fill a role the moment it is needed. For example, if a tank is dangerously low on health, a damage dealer may need to step in and take some damage while the tank retreats. These momentary role swaps are entirely situational. Every player must constantly be weighing their options and communicating with their team to ensure tight coordination and avoid costly missteps.

# **3.2** Modes of Communication

The team consistently uses two modes of communication to distribute temporal knowledge: text chat and voice chat. Each has its own constraints and affordances, and each lends itself to different uses.

Text chat allows a player to press "enter," type a message, and press "enter" again to print that message to the on-screen chat log, where it will stay for the rest of the game. Each entry in the log is automatically timestamped, so if a player can take their hands off of the mouse and ability keys the moment they see an opponent use a summoner spell, they can simply type the opponent's champion or role and the spell name to communicate the onset of the cooldown timer. Memorizing the cooldown timers of the major spells is a requirement of the players from early in their careers. This combination of storing the cooldown onset time in the chat log, and cooldown duration in each player, gives the team the ability to expend minimal in-game time recording maximal information about its opponent's timebased resources.

To facilitate efficient storage, the team uses a shorthand for this precise situation. In this shorthand, each role, champion name, or spell can be represented with one to three letters, allowing the players' fingers as little time away from the controls as possible. If, using this shorthand, a player is storing an enemy spell cooldown in the chat log but does not specify which spell the enemy used, the Flash spell, which instantaneously displaces that champion's position, is implied. So, if the support and ADC are engaged in a fight, and the support types "ad," their teammates know that the enemy ADC has no Flash until five minutes after the timestamp next to that message. When the support gets a break from the action, they are expected to retype the information with the end point of the cooldown timer added for future reference; if they originally typed "ad" at 20:03, when they are no longer under pressure they type "25:03 ad f," which means "the enemy ADC has no Flash until 25:03."

This redundancy ensures distribution of knowledge that could, at any point, be useful to any part of the team.

If, however, they cannot afford to take their hands off the controls, they call out the role or champion and the spell used and remember the associated time. After the action plays out, they transfer that information from memory to the chat log for less temporary storage and broader team access. Vocal communication allows the convenience of not leaving the controls and the flexibility of spoken language at the cost of permanence. Its strengths are most evident in two contexts:

(1) chaotic team fights, where improvising coordinated attacks and defenses may have to happen in under a second as evidenced by the following exchange over the course of a few seconds in a three-on-three fight that resulted in three kills and zero death for the team:

ADC: Reksai's here. [an enemy champion appeared making it 2 against 3 in the bot lane] Sup: That's fine.

Jg: I'm coming bot [to make it a 3 against 3 fight]. I'm coming. 5 seconds. I still have jump. [Jg jumps to attack]

Sup: Turn Trundle next, turn trundle next. [directing allies to focus on a particular enemy champion]

Jg: Tank now! [3 kills for 0 deaths, bottom lane counter-gank]

In the chaotic, improvised team fight, the jungler uses vocal communication to indicate how long until he reaches the fight, the status of his strongest engage ability's cooldown, and the precise moment when he wants the support to start absorbing damage for him while they fight the enemy champions, Reksai and Trundle. The support also plans their next target to coordinate the timing of their attacks – all in the span of a few seconds. The ability to make and execute these calls on this time scale simply does not exist with text chat. (2) Long term strategizing when the team cannot waste time typing out their plans for later reference. In this instance, the support's planning takes place over about 15 seconds:

We have a late game comp. We just need to take one objective at a time and reset. Vision before objectives guys. OK. Everyone listen up. This is what we're gonna do: get vision in this entire jungle [marks the west jungle], and then go for dragon.

As is evident in the first quote, that is more than enough time for an opponent to show up and engage in a fight. Even without any enemies nearby, the support must constantly be ready control his champion to farm gold and experience, maintain visibility of key areas of the map, or come to a teammate's aid. With these demands on his time, the support cannot afford to let go of the mouse for 15 seconds to type up a schedule. These macro play timing decisions guide the team's actions so completely that, once heard and understood, it is assumed they will never need to be repeated in their entirety, because they are everpresent and salient in the players' memories. If a part of the team acts incongruously with the agreed upon strategy, another will repeat the relevant information to correct the team's course as soon as they notice a deviation from the plan. Delaying the progression of the overall strategy could render it useless if the opponent takes advantage of the team's lack of coordination.

# **3.3** Information Storage

Certain kinds of temporal knowledge are always stored and communicated in the same ways. Much of this structure is rigid because of both the characteristics of different modes of communication and the nature of how the game presents information. For example, the time until an enemy arrives at a specific point on the map is always communicated through voice (e.g. "Ori's 20 seconds away."). Vocal communication is ideal here for two reasons: (1) the information is only accurate for a short amount of time, and (2) if enemy distance is relevant, the situation is likely dangerous, and voice requires no deviation from controls. The storage location will necessarily depend on whether the enemy is visible when the player performs their estimation. If so, the player communicates information that is partly stored in the on-screen minimap (enemy starting point) and partly remembered (enemy speed of travel). If the enemy is not visible, the player must first work from the enemy's last known position on the minimap to estimate their current position, and only then can they combine starting point with speed to estimate and communicate the opponent's travel time. While based on information that originated on the minimap, all of the knowledge required for the final estimation relies on the player's memory. Last known location is first transferred from the minimap to memory before the player knows if it will be useful. They then combine it with their knowledge of likely paths, and how quickly that champion – with particular items – will travel those paths, to produce an estimate that the team will rely on until the enemy reappears. A long estimate can get the team killed when the enemy appears ahead of schedule. A short estimate can force the team to retreat unnecessarily before securing an objective for fear of an incoming enemy that is actually still far off. Accurately storing timerelated information in memory is therefore a vital skill for every member of the team, and trust in each member's ability is a prerequisite of the system for accurate storage, estimation, and communication to be worthwhile [14].

Best practices for storing and communicating different kinds of temporal knowledge, however, are not always adhered to. While the team's protocol calls for enemy summoner spell cooldowns to be recorded in the chat log, players sometimes store them in memory instead. Part of each laner's assortment of temporal information they are responsible for maintaining for the team are their lane opponent's summoner spell cooldown timers. This knowledge directs the team in deciding when to engage or disengage, when to gank, how to position, who to target, and when to attempt neutral objectives. Its accuracy and availability to the team can determine the outcome of a game. For example, after a fight in which the enemy ADC, Ashe, used flash and heal and the enemy mid, Oriana, used flash, the top laner typed 16:40 ad h, 19 mid into the chat log and copied it for later use. The following voice dialog occurred less than a minute later when the enemy team grouped up to siege the middle inhibitor turret:

Top: Ori no flash. Ashe no flash. Mid: Oh? Ashe no flash? Top: Yeah Ori flashed and ulted me, I said! Mid: Ashe though. Top: Oh yeah. [pastes 16:40 ad h, 19 mid in chat log] I don't know the AD flash time though.

Failure to log summoner cooldowns in text chat is a breakdown in distribution that results from a part of the system treating all knowledge immediately accessible to it as knowledge immediately accessible to the whole system. In the exchange above, the top laner believes he is reiterating known information ("Ori no flash. Ashe no flash.") that he had already distributed throughout the team via text chat. In fact, he had only shared some of his knowledge of the enemy cooldowns, then mistakenly assumed all of the relevant knowledge was allocated to the parts of the system that could use it. Had he not ensured distribution by voicing the information, it would never have made it to the other players. It was, however, still too late. Afraid of engaging the enemy ADC with flash available, the team had stayed out of range and allowed the opponents to damage their inhibitor turret. That weakness in their base could later be exploited in a push from the enemy to end the game.

#### 3.3.1 Individual Responsibility

In order for the team to be confident in its ability to keep track of all the important temporal factors during play, each role is responsible for maintaining knowledge of certain pieces of information. This structure is often quite rigid during the early phases of the game when laners leaving their lanes is rare. At this point, the top and mid laners are responsible for storing – and communicating when necessary – knowledge of their respective lane opponent's summoner spell cooldown timers, ultimate ability cooldown timers, projected time until next level, and travel time to another lane if they leave their own lane to gank. Since ADC and support share the bottom lane, they are both expected to keep track of time-based information about the enemy ADC and support, but ultimately responsibility falls to the support, freeing the ADC to focus more on farming gold and experience. The support is therefore responsible for maintaining knowledge of the enemy ADC and support's summoner spell cooldown timers, ultimate ability cooldown timers, time to next level, and travel time to other lanes. The jungler's chief responsibility is to keep track of the enemy jungler. While this does not at first seem like a temporal task, consider that the enemy jungler is rarely visible. To track their position a player must use knowledge of how long their champion takes to kill each jungle monster, how long it takes their champion to travel each path in the jungle with their current items, how long it takes their champion to reach each level, and how quickly their champion regenerates health and mana with their current items. The jungler must then update that knowledge in accordance with the passage of time on the game clock and factor in as much new information as they can acquire each time the enemy jungler is visible. On top of that, they are responsible for storing and communicating the enemy jungler's summoner spell and ultimate ability cooldown timers. Maintenance and communication of these specific pieces of information is vital for avoiding situations where a subset of the team is outnumbered and overpowered by the enemy.

#### 3.3.2 Information in Flux

As champion statistics change because of increasing levels and items, so too must time estimations based on those statistics. Accordingly, an understanding of how much time an objective will take with the given team composition at the given levels and with the given items allows on-the-fly strategizing with minimal wasted time planning. In the nine words that comprise the dialogue the following conversation between the ADC and mid laner, the players agreed on a schedule of plays for the next three to five minutes that would net the team two buffs and a comfortable lead in gold and experience with which they could overpower the opposing team for the rest of the game:

ADC: Alright, herald [a neutral monster]? Mid: Yeah, dragon [another neutral monster] after. ADC: Herald, reset, drag [short for dragon]. Mid: Yeah.

While two other teammates are chasing the enemy support to secure the kill, the ADC suggests the next play: taking herald. The mid laner, who has been the main shot caller this game, confirms and adds another play thereafter. The ADC then clarifies the exact schedule they just created, and the mid laner confirms the full plan. Herald and dragon are NPCs that give the team that kills them an advantage, like damage or movement speed increase.

The quick recognition that they could enact this plan before their opponents had enough time to recover from the last fight demonstrates tracking and storage of predictions. Predictions are necessary when planning because they must consider how long it will take the team to finish objectives at their current strength. The only access they have to that information is in the form of their own estimates based on team composition, levels, and items. The levels and items of the team, though, are always in flux as the game progresses, necessitating constant updates to those estimates. Without that prerequisite tracking of personal estimates, the team would have had to spend more time planning and might have missed their window entirely. Two individual players maintaining their own running estimates made it possible for the team to decide upon a plan with little additional effort; the decision needed no explaining, since the two agreed, and the rest of the team was free to focus their attention on getting a kill.

# 3.4 Summary

Where temporal knowledge is stored and how it is communicated – how knowledge of time is distributed – in an elite LoL team is a question of what parts of the system need access to the information, what timescale the information belongs to, and how free the player or players with access to the information are to make it available to the rest of the team. Each player and artifact maintaining internal representations of the passage of time also marks important points in time externally. This affords the team confidence to make aggressive plays and elicits appropriate caution when necessary. It also allows the team a level of coordination at a fine temporal granularity for both split-second tactics and long-term strategies.

# Chapter 4

# **Empirical Study**

# 4.1 Introduction

How we interact in teams is how we do collaborative and cooperative cognitive work. Teams communicate to establish common ground [17], to build trust [91], to distribute information [61], to coordinate [13], to strategize [28]. Communication is, in fact, in the very definition of interactive team cognition [18]. How teams communicate is known to relate to how they perform in a variety of contexts. The teams research literature is rife with examples in different domains. There are even examples of intervention research where findings regarding communication practices from one domain have been adapted and successfully employed in another domain that ostensibly shares little with the original context. These teams, however, share crucial characteristics [13].

There are also many different team taxonomies used to categorise different kinds of teams and team tasks (e.g. [70], [102], [25], [111]). None of these taxonomies, though, are built on findings about practices that are evidenced as successfully transferring between teams within a taxonomic category. Similarly, the previously mentioned intervention studies that have successfully transferred team cognitive practices across domains have not discussed their results in terms of any existing team taxonomies. See chapter 5 for a detailed exploration of a category of teams across disparate domains that share such characteristics with the esports teams described in this dissertation.

This study focuses on team communication practices in a specific domain, competitive *League* of *Legends* (LoL), that has the potential to produce findings relevant to teams in disparate domains, as discussed in chapter 5. I explore relationships between experience – both in gameplay and in teamwork – and aspects of team communication that apply to awareness, coordination, and in-game mentoring when they are most difficult and most critical: during high pressure periods of play that influence the outcome of the game. This expert-novice comparison helps to uncover characteristics of team communication displayed by players and teams at different levels of competitive performance. How a team communicates under pressure may well determine that team's performance or even their ability to learn from experience, regardless of domain. If esports provide a context for examining teams more broadly, understanding the differences in communication practices between expert and novice LoL teams can help us develop and test similar practices in teams under similar pressures.

#### 4.1.1 Research Questions

These research questions frame this work in terms of specific aspects of communication across levels of expertise in teams. Communication is specifically examined in terms of frequency, style, and task-oriented information, all of which are defined and operationalized in the following methods section. Expertise is specifically examined in terms of both a team's experience working together and a team's experience with a specific task, both of which are operationalized in the following methods section.

RQ1: How does team communication differ in terms of frequency, style, and information

shared in expert and novice teams?

RQ2: How do patterns in team communication relate to performance in expert and novice teams?

To explore these questions, this 2 x 2 factorial design tests relationships between in-game communications in LoL teams that vary in both experience as a team and experience with the game. This study identifies how the content, style, and amount of communication differs between novice and expert teams; whether those differences relate to experience with the game, experience as a team, or both; and whether experience-based differences in communication relate to how teams perform in stressful in-game situations.

### 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Periods of Interest

To measure communication and performance as they relate to critical in-game events, I focus data collection and analysis around contested in-game objectives (e.g. Dragon, Herald, Baron) and team fights during laning phase (i.e. before the first turret falls). These are moments during play that can strongly influence a game's outcome, and are therefore high pressure moments in which teams require superior attention management and coordination to outperform their opponents and gain an advantage. These periods of interest (PoI) begin when the play is first communicated about by any player on the team and end 30 seconds after players stop taking or dealing damage. The 30 seconds after the final damage exchange are included in each period to ensure inclusion of any post-play debrief or related communication. The transcription of each PoI includes all team communication for that entire duration.

#### 4.2.2 Pariticipants

The goal for recruitment was to meet statistical power requirement for analyses described in the Findings section. Since the number of PoI's per game can be unpredictable, I designed the study to exceed the necessary sample size for these analyses. To run three data collection sessions per group, with two teams of five players participating in each session, recruitment was focused on recruiting six teams (30 players) per group (N = 120, table 4.1).

These 120 total participants that comprise the 24 teams in this study were recruited through fliers (appendix B, online posts, emails, and undergraduate class announcements. Consent and detailed information were made available online for those interested to review and sign – and for parents or guardians to review and sign in the case of minors. This study was approved by the University of California IRB on October 16, 2020 (HS 2020-5976).

Groups of five participants that agreed to participate as a team were assigned a date and time for their session and invited to the study's Discord server. Individual players who agreed to participate were randomly assigned to teams of players with similar levels of experience with the game as determined by their in-game rank, assigned a date and time for their session, and invited to the study's Discord server. Participants who were randomly assigned to teams were not given information about the team they were assigned to until the session began. Each participant was sent a Polar H10 heart rate monitor, which they kept as part of their compensation.

The team experts (TE) in table 4.1 are defined as groups of five players who have played at least ten LoL matches together in the month prior to their study session. Their actual total games played together ranged from 10 to 500 (table 4.3). Team novices (TN) are groups of five players who have never played together before. The game experts (GE) in table 4.1 are defined as players with in-game LoL ranks of Gold or higher. Game novices (GN) are players with ranks of Bronze or Silver (figure 4.1). In the total population of ranked

Table 4.1: Sample of teams stratified by two factors: team expertise and game expertise.

	Game Novices (GN)	Game Experts $(GE)$
Team Novices (TN)	6 TNGN teams	6 TNGE teams
Team Experts (TE)	6 TEGN teams	6 TEGE teams

Table 4.2: Gender and age descriptives by group.

Group	N	Female	Male	Non-binary	Age Mean	Age SD	Age Min.	Age Max.
All	120	12	103	5	20.87	2.09	15	25
TNGN	30	3	25	2	20.70	1.86	18	25
TEGN	30	6	23	1	19.33	2.59	15	24
TNGE	30	1	27	2	21.50	1.71	18	25
TEGE	30	2	28	0	21.80	0.96	20	24

LoL players, the top 34.3% are ranked Gold or above, the bottom 4.8% are ranked Iron, and the remaining 60.9% are ranked Bronze or Silver [89]. As an example of how these different factors of expertise interacted to define the four groups, a TEGN team is a group of five players ranked Bronze to Silver who have played at least ten matches together. The distribution of ranks by group are reported in table 4.4 and table 4.1.

As noted in table 4.2, 103 (85.83%) of these participants identified as male, 12 (10.00%) as female, and 5 (4.17%) as non-binary. Their ages ranged from 15 to 25 years of age (M = 20.83, SD = 2.09). The game experts in this sample were, on average, significantly older (M = 21.67 years, SD = 1.41) than the game novices (M = 20.03 years, SD = 2.36) t(119) = 4.60, p<0.001. There was no significant difference in age between team experts (M = 20.57, SD = 2.30) and team novices (M = 21.17, SD = 1.83) t(119) = 1.58, p=0.12.

Table 4.3: Team experience: self-reported games played together by group.

Group	Games Mean	Games SD	Games Min.	Games Max.
TNGN	0	0	0	0
TEGN	60.43	102.07	10	500
TNGE	0	0	0	0
TEGE	124.20	158.61	10	500

Group	Bronze	Silver	Gold	Platinum	Diamond	Master	GM	Challenger
TNGN	12	18	0	0	0	0	0	0
TEGN	10	20	0	0	0	0	0	0
TNGE	0	0	11	8	8	2	0	1
TEGE	0	0	14	3	12	1	0	0

Table 4.4: Game expertise: in-game ranks by group.



Figure 4.1: Bar graphs of rank distribution by group.

#### 4.2.3 Data Collection

Once the research team briefed each participant, made sure the data collection software was correctly installed on their computer, and checked that their webcam, microphone, and Polar H10 heart rate monitor were all working properly, each session began with a presession survey collecting information on demographics, game expertise, and team experience (appendix C). The items on this short survey include in-game identifier, year of birth, gender, current LoL rank, highest achieved LoL rank, and how many games the participant has played with their teammates.

Each team participated in one data collection session, during which they played three games of LoL against one other team in their group. These match-ups were selected so that the average ranks of the two teams playing in each session were comparable. With two teams playing three games in each session, three sessions per group yields nine games played per group, or 36 played across all four groups. At the beginning of each data collection session researchers confirmed receipt of each participant's signed consent forms and administered the pre-session survey to gather and confirm relevant demographic, team experience, and game experience data (appendix C). As participants completed their pre-session surveys, researchers confirmed participants properly installed the data collection software, CapturEsports [131].

During the matches, CapturEsports recorded each player's game telemetry data, including text chat, pings, and ability casts; each player's screen while they are in game; each player's audio including team communication over Discord; and summative game statistics from each player's account through the Riot API. For a detailed description of CapturEsports, see Yao's thesis on its design, development, and implementation [131]. The researchers assisted with and confirmed upload of these data between games, then gave the teams a five minute break before the next game. After the third and final game of each session the researchers confirmed upload of the final game's data, debriefed participants, and uploaded the recordings containing the verbal communication data. After each session, researchers began identifying and transcribing PoI's using the CapturEsports data, screen recordings, and voice recordings. The timeline of data collection over the course of each session is presented visually in table 4.5.

While far more PoI's were identified than the researchers could reasonably transcribe and code over the course of data collection and analysis, power analyses indicated that a sample size of 160 PoI's yields sufficient power for testing the hypotheses detailed in the Hypothesis Testing section, including for the two-way ANOVAs that test for differences in communication between levels of both team and game expertise. To determine which 160 PoI's the researchers transcribed and coded, I randomly sampled 40 PoI's from the total collection of identified PoI's for each group. None of these sampled PoI's were from overlapping periods of play, ensuring independence of observations for statistical analyses.

	Pre-	Game		Game		Game		Post-
	Test	1	Break	2	Break	3	Debrief	Session
Survey	Х							
CapturEsports		Х	Upload	Х	Upload	Х	Upload	Identify
Recording								PoI's
Voice & Screen		Х		Х		Х	Upload	Transcribe
Recording								PoI's

Table 4.5: Data collection protocol timeline for each session.

### 4.2.4 Data Analysis

With the corpus of 160 PoI's identified, transcribed, and prepared for analysis, the researchers coded those transcriptions in terms of a pre-determined coding scheme describing communication frequency, style, and content. I supply justification, definitions, and examples of these *a priori* codes in the following Coding Scheme subsection. See appendix D for an example of a coded PoI. I then describe the process used to establish inter-rater reliability and report on the effectiveness of that process in the Inter-Rater Reliability subsection. The final subsection under this Data Analysis header, Hypothesis Testing, details the hypotheses determined before analysis, tested during analysis, and reported on in the Findings section.

#### **Coding Scheme**

Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas [81] identify communication frequency as one of three aspects of team communication that have the most impact on emergent states and team outputs. In previous exploratory work [96], I found preliminary evidence for a relationship between how many pieces of temporal information communicated by a LoL team during the first offensive play of a game and the result of that play as measured by kills and deaths. Those results came from only one expert team's games during a collegiate national championship and are far from conclusive. The present study tests that relationship to better understand how the amount of team communication around a given play might relate to the team's performance. There are still open questions around how much communication expert and novice LoL teams can benefit from, how communication frequency can change under pressure, and how much communication might be too much and result in vital information being lost in chaotic chatter.

In their study of how peer mentoring can contribute to academic success, Leidenfrost, Strassnig, Schabmann, Spiel, & Carbon [74] identified three styles of mentorship: motivating master mentoring, informatory standard mentoring, and negative minimalist mentoring. The motivating master mentors sent their mentees messages that were both motivational and informative, and they sent very few negative messages. The informatory standard mentors sent messages that were much more informative than motivational with very few negative messages. The negative minimalist mentors sent messages that were shorter, carried less information, and were much more negative than those sent by their counterparts who fell into the other two styles.

The mentees in Leidenfrost et al.'s [74] study who performed poorly on the academic pretests were significantly more likely to successfully complete the peer mentoring program than chance would predict if they were mentored by a motivating master mentor. They also reported that they found no significant decrease in program completion rate among mentees who performed well on the academic pretests and were mentored by a negative minimalist mentor. These were, however, the only two hypotheses that Leidenfrost et al. [74] tested regarding relationships between specific mentoring styles and mentee performance, leaving open questions about, for example, the influence of informatory standard mentoring.

If these relationships between peer mentoring styles and mentee performance transfer from academics to other domains requiring more synchrony and tighter coordination in teamwork, we could find a relationship between motivational or informational feedback in LoL teams and their in-game performance or expertise. To understand in-game communication in LoL teams in terms of Leidenfrost et al.'s [74] styles of peer mentoring, the coding scheme includes a Motivational code for positive, neutral, or negative valence (motivational +/0/-) and an Informative code whether it supplies useful information or lacks substance (informative +/-).

Coding turns of talk for whether they are immediate or delayed (timely +/-) and whether they refer to teammates collectively or single out individual players (collective +/-) allows exploration of alternative means for analyzing team play and team-orientation along the lines of previous team communication research, as opposed to the limited methods currently used in the esports research literature.

The peer mentoring literature converges on these qualities with evaluations of communication in the teams research literature. Each of these four communication style indicators address a part of what Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas [81] call communication quality. Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas's framework characterizes team communication in terms of frequency, quality, and content (figure 4.2). They argue that communication quality, "regardless of quantity, leads to a clarification of what and how events and contributions to interdependent tasks should take place, allowing for smoother overall functioning and better performance" [81].

In terms of task-related communication content, my exploration of the distributed cognition of an expert LoL team [96] found that time-related information was of particular focus. Tracking communication of time-related information in that team allowed me to illustrate how the players stored and distributed knowledge and cognitive work as a team. Here I explore how consistent that focus on temporal information is across teams of different levels of expertise. Communication content is the final of the three aspects of team communication highlighted by Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas [81], and the temporal information I focus on here specifically address what they call "task-oriented interactions." The coding scheme includes a Temporal Information code for whether task-oriented, time-related information



Figure 4.2: Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas's "Proposed communication process framework in virtual teams." Reprinted from [81].

is included in the content of a turn of talk (temporal information +/-). None of the codes are mutually exclusive, and the only dependency is that ToT's that contain task-oriented temporal information (temporal information +) must logically have an informative style (informative +). See table 4.6 for reference definitions of each code in the coding scheme.

#### Inter-Rater Reliability

To ensure sufficient inter-rater reliability, the three researchers each independently – and blindly to each other's coding – coded every turn of talk from the same random 10% of the data corpus using the *a priori* coding scheme described in the Coding Scheme subsection. Given the likelihood of raters agreeing by chance when applying codes with only two or three levels, like those in this coding scheme, Percent Agreement can be misleadingly high. Cohen's Kappa ( $\kappa$ ) [110] accounts for the likelihood of agreement by chance by calculating the ratio of the difference of the observed percent agreement ( $P_A$ ) and the expected percent
Code	+	0	-
Motiational	Positive valence	Neutral valence	Negative valence
Informative	Contains or requests useful information or recommends action to take	n/a	Lacks substance
Timely	Future or present tense or referring to future or present event	n/a	Past tense or referring to past event
Collective	"We / you (all)"	No reference to players	"I / you (one)"
Temporal Information	Contains task-related temporal information	n/a	Lacks task-related temporal information

Table 4.6: Coding scheme table of code definitions.

Strength of Agreement	$\kappa$ Range
Poor	< 0.00
Slight	0.00 - 0.20
Fair	0.21 - 0.40
Moderate	0.41 - 0.60
Substantial	0.61 - 0.80
Almost Perfect	0.81 - 1.00

Table 4.7: Strength of agreement for ranges of Cohen's Kappa according to Landis & Koch. Reprinted from [71] (p. 165).

Table 4.8: Cohen's Kappa values from the third round of inter-rater reliability testing.

Code	$\kappa$
All codes	0.73
Motivational	0.64
Informative	0.71
Timely	0.80
Collective	0.68
Temporal	0.82

agreement  $(P_c)$  to the expected percent disagreement  $(1 - P_c)$ :

$$\kappa = \frac{P_A - P_c}{1 - P_c}$$

This step beyond calculating a simple Percent Agreement accounts for the likelihood of raters agreeing by chance. To calculate  $\kappa$  across the three raters,  $\kappa$  is first calculated for each possible pair of raters. The average of those three  $\kappa$ 's then yields the inter-rater reliability for the full coding team [51].

The coding scheme's reliance on objective semantic characteristics for some codes and minimal subjective interpretation for others meant that the coding team aimed for at least substantial agreement as defined by Landis & Koch's  $\kappa$  benchmarks reproduced in table 4.7 [71].

After two rounds of training, the third round of inter-rater reliability testing produced results that indicated substantial agreement ( $\kappa = 0.73$ ), as detailed in table 4.8.

#### Hypothesis Testing

This subsection explicates how constructs named in the research questions are operationalized, describes the various hypotheses constructed to explore the research questions, and reports the statistical methods used to test each hypothesis.

For these analyses, team communication frequency is the number of ToT's per second to account for PoI's of differing durations. Team communication style is examined in terms of four qualities: motivational valence (code: motivational), whether informational content is present (code: informative), verb tense (code: timely), and singular and plural pronoun use (code: collective). Communication content is also further examined for the presence of temporal knowledge, since previous work has identified temporal knowledge as task-oriented information that is heavily emphasized in expert LoL play. Each of the communication quality variables are analyzed as proportions. For the communication quality codes, this proportion is the difference between the number of ToT's containing positive and negative instances of the code divided by the total number of ToT's in that PoI (i.e. (positive negative) / total). For the task-oriented content code, this proportion is simply the number of ToT's containing task-oriented temporal information divided by the total number of ToT's in that PoI. The possible range for the communication quality codes is therefore -1 to 1, while the possible range for the temporal information code is 0 to 1.

Expert/novice comparisons between teams are made in terms of both team experience and game expertise. Team experts (TE) are defined as groups of five players who have played at least ten LoL matches together, though team experts reported a wide range of games played together from 10 to 500. Team novices (TN) have never played together before and were randomly assigned teammates within their group. Game experts (GE) have in-game ranks of Gold or higher, and game novices (GN) are ranked Bronze or Silver. Team performance is measured in terms of (a) a team's kills during a PoI minus their deaths during that PoI and (b) whether they won an objective, lost an objective, or no team secured an objective during the PoI.

Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas [81], in their review of virtual team communication research, emphasize frequency, quality, and content as the well-studied features that define team communication. Frequency, according to the literature, does not necessarily predict performance. In other words, more communication over a given period of time is unlikely to yield better results on a team's task as long as the team has established sufficient common ground to coordinate without frequent communication [17]. In fact, too much communication may hinder team performance. In Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas's [81] words,

Marks, Zaccaro, and Mathieu [80] highlighted the necessity of distinguishing between communication frequency and other aspects of communication, as a prevalent finding within the literature is that a higher frequency of team communication is not always related to increased team performance; some teams are able to demonstrate effective performance under complex conditions despite limited opportunities to communicate with other team members [31]. Moreover, familiar teams have been found to achieve a higher degree of performance than unfamiliar teams despite exchanging less information [32].

Researchers have suggested that familiar teams are able to perform effectively, even in the absence of overt communication, due to their practiced shared cognition [16] [31]. This understanding enables team members to behave and contribute to the task in a manner that is compatible with their teammates; it further allows team members to understand how other team members may respond to various scenarios, despite being unable to communicate [16]. Consequently, communication frequency is argued to not necessarily be required for high team performance.  $H1.1_0$ : There is no significant relationship between the ToT's per second during PoI's and the result of the objective fight in terms of KD.

**H1.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the ToT's per second during PoI's and the result of the objective fight in terms of objective win/loss.

**H1.3**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the ToT's per second during PoI's and team experience.

**H1.4**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the ToT's per second during PoI's and game experience.

 $H1.5_0$ : The frequency of communication is equal across all groups during PoI's.

Researchers see widespread agreement across studies of small teams that characteristics of team communication other than frequency, which Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas [81] refer to collectively as communication quality, tend to be better predictors of team performance. Research on peer mentoring, a phenomenon central to team development, converged on these specific qualities in Leidenfrost et al.'s [74] identification of three distinct peer mentoring communication styles that had significant impacts on mentee performance: motivating master, informatory standard, and negative minimalist. While Leidenfrost et al. defined these styles based on data in an academic peer mentoring context, their findings still converged on motivational and informative aspects of communication as characteristics vital to team communication quality.

**H2.1.1**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of motivational communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of KD.

**H2.1.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of motivational communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of objective win/loss. **H2.2.1**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of informative communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of KD.

**H2.2.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of informative communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of objective win/loss.

Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas's review [81] also highlights communication timeliness as "particularly salient to virtual team interaction," and they note that there is a lack of research on communication timeliness in synchronous teams. The extant literature indicates that delayed communication may inhibit team coordination in virtual, asynchronous team, and from those findings, Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas infer that synchronous teams would see less variance and therefore less impact of communication timeliness on teamwork. Their review, however, only discusses timeliness in terms the gross timescales experienced by asynchronous, virtual teams. If we consider timeliness on a finer scale – operationalized simply as verb tense – variance may be quite high and may relate to team performance. In LoL, where team coordination matters on split-second and broad strategic timescales alike [96], an emphasis on what is currently happening and about to happen may, in fact, influence team performance.

**H2.3.1**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of timely communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of KD.

**H2.3.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of timely communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of objective win/loss.

Esports researchers have previously explored measures of teamwork and team cohesiveness in LoL in terms of statistics like vision score<sup>1</sup> and assists<sup>2</sup>, but these can depend heavily on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Vision score in LoL is a function of vision provided by a player for that player's team and vision denied by that player against their opponent's team. Riot Games has not published the precise formula used to compute vision score.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A player earns assists by damaging or debuffing an enemy champion shortly before they die to another player or non-player character, or by healing or buffing an ally shortly before they kill an enemy champion.

the in-game characters drafted by a team for each game. Teams with more characters that can move through walls, for example, are likely to have much higher vision scores afforded to them by more freedom of movement through enemy territory on the map. Teams with more characters that can shield, heal, and buff their teammates are likely to have far more assists in fights as a result of many characters not having to deal damage to enemies to earn assists. The collective quality of team communication – operationalized simply as singular or plural pronoun use – is an exploratory means for understanding this likely vital, but as of yet difficult to measure, aspect of teamwork.

**H2.4.1**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of collective communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of KD.

**H2.4.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of collective communication during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of objective win/loss.

More specifically than the informative quality of communication, previous work [96] identified temporal information as particularly highly valued in elite LoL play. Who attends to what temporal information, how that knowledge is stored and shared, and when players communication that information are all aspects of team cognition in LoL that these teams emphasize in practice and utilize in performance.

**H2.5.1**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of temporal information communicated during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of KD.

**H2.5.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the proportion of temporal information communicated during PoIs and the result of the objective fight in terms of objective win/loss.

Testing for relationships between communication style and team experience, as well as communication style and game expertise will begin a foundation of findings about how these teams communicate and work together at varying levels of expertise. Describing any differences in communication style between novice and expert teams informs conversations of team development and training. These hypotheses taken in tandem with the hypotheses regarding relationships between communication styles and performance at different levels of expertise highlight likely areas of focus for team development research and practice.

**H3.1.1**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between motivational communication and team experience.

**H3.1.2**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between informative communication and team experience.

**H3.1.3**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between timely communication and team experience.

**H3.1.4**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between collective communication and team experience.

**H3.1.5**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between temporal information communicated and team experience.

**H3.2.1-4**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between motivational, informative, timely, or collective communication and game experience.

**H3.2.5**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between temporal information communicated and game experience.

**H3.3.1-4**<sub>0</sub>: The proportion of motivational, informative, timely, or collective communication is equal across all groups.

 $H3.3.5_0$ : The proportion of temporal information is equal across all groups.

Regardless of whether there are significant differences between communication styles of ex-

pert and novice teams, understanding whether these different communication styles relate to team performance will provide actionable insights for teams of all stages of development.

**H4.1.1-4**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between motivational, informative, timely, or collective communication team performance in terms of KD within each group.

**H4.1.5**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between temporal information communicated and team performance in terms of KD within each group.

**H4.1.6**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the ToT's per second during PoI's and team performance in terms of KD within each group.

**H4.2.1-4**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between motivational, informative, timely, or collective communication during PoI's and team performance in terms of objective win/loss within each group.

H4.2.5<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between temporal information communicated during PoI's and team performance in terms of objective win/loss within each group.

**H4.2.6**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant relationship between the ToT's per second during PoI's and team performance in terms of objective win/loss within each group.

## 4.3 Findings

The analyses and results in this section deal with differences in team experience, game expertise, performance, communication frequency, communication quality, and communication content. To reiterate what precisely these tests are analyzing, team novices are teams that have never played together before, while team experts have played together at least ten times in the past month; game novices are teams on which all players are ranked Bronze or

Variable	Min.	1st Qu.	Mean $(SD)$	Med.	3rd Qu.	Max.
ToT's / second	0.1	0.2	0.3(0.1)	0.3	0.4	1.0
ToT count	3.0	11.0	18.4 (9.8)	16.0	23.0	55.0
Duration (s)	25.0	45.0	62.6(24.0)	59.5	75.0	160.0
KD (kills - deaths)	-7.0	-1.0	0.2(2.3)	0.0	2.0	6.0
Motivational	-0.4	-0.1	$0.1 \ (0.2)$	0.0	0.1	0.5
Informative	-1.0	0.0	0.3(0.4)	0.3	0.5	1.0
Timely	-1.0	-0.1	0.1 (0.4)	0.1	0.5	1.0
Collective	-1.0	-0.5	-0.4(0.3)	-0.4	-0.2	0.4
Temporal Info	0.0	0.0	0.1  (0.1)	0.0	0.1	0.3

Table 4.9: Table of PoI descriptives for the entire corpus.

Silver, while game experts are ranked Gold and above; performance is analyzed in terms of the result of subtracting a team's deaths over a PoI from its kills over that PoI (KD) and by whether they won or lost an objective during a PoI; communication frequency is turns of talk per second over the duration of a PoI: communication quality is the four different characteristics of team communication defined in the introduction of this chapter (e.g. motivational, informative, timely, collective) as proportions of the total turns of talk in a PoI; and the communication content pertinent to these analyses is the proportion of temporal information shared out of the total turns of talk in a PoI. These qualities of communication are both positively and negatively coded, so the proportions can be represented as negative values if a team communicates using, for example, more negative motivational language than positive. 40 periods of interest were randomly selected from each of the four groups, yielding 160 total periods. These periods ranged from 25 seconds to 160 seconds in duration. To compare periods of such varying lengths, amount of communication must be measured in terms of frequency (i.e. turns of talk per second), and communication quality is measured in terms of proportions (e.g. (positive motivational - negative motivational) / total turns of talk). See table 4.9 for the means and ranges of the continuous variables across the entire data corpus, and see appendix E for a comprehensive list of visualizations of the distribution of each communication variable in each group.

As described in the Data Collection section, randomly sampling PoI's for these analyses

controls for a number of factors that could skew these results. The most salient of these is performance. If the sample of periods analyzed for one group contained significantly better performance than those from another group, the reported analyses would be comparing unlike measures. The fact that there are no significant differences in KD between the PoI's of each group is a necessary beginning for all of the analyses I report. A one-way ANOVA comparing the mean KD's of each group found no significant effect of group on KD (F(3,156)= 0.10, p=0.961).

The hypotheses are presented in order so that the first analyses (H1 hypotheses) deal with performance to establish an understanding of what aspects of team communication are actually related to differences in team performance in this sample before delving into how teams of different levels and types of expertise actually communicate. The H2 hypotheses deal with the data at a high level, without delineating between different levels or kinds of expertise. These H2 analyses do not consider expertise or group at all, therefore describing a high level picture of how the teams in this sample communicate, regardless of expertise. The H3 hypotheses begin to deal with one type of expertise at a time, looking at relationships between either team experience or game expertise and dependent variables. The H4 hypotheses examine interactions between levels and types of expertise, describing associations between unique groups and dependent variables. The results of analyses, however, are presented together with results of analyses of the same dependent variables. For example, the analyses of how each aspect of communication relate to KD performance are presented together, so that as I report each result, I am detailing a more specific and complete understanding of the variable in question. For the sake of brevity, I only discuss the significant results beyond the full corpus analyses.

For the correlation tests in these analyses, I rely on Kendall's  $\tau$ , a non-parametric rank correlation test. This correlation coefficient is more robust against outliers than the alternatives [104], and many of the communication-based characteristics under investigation are not

Group KD	ToT Freq.	Moti.	Info.	Time.	Coll.	Temp.
All	0.21	0.32	0.09	0.04	0.08	0.11
р	0.007 **	< 0.001 ***	0.238	0.608	0.314	0.186
TNGN	0.19	0.65	-0.03	-0.16	0.23	0.03
р	0.249	< 0.001 ***	0.830	0.316	0.147	0.858
TEGN	0.06	0.55	-0.23	0.11	0.16	0.22
р	0.691	< 0.001 ***	0.153	0.509	0.325	0.169
TNGE	0.35	0.07	0.39	0.19	-0.10	0.31
р	0.026 *	0.679	0.012 *	0.245	0.546	0.054 .
TEGE	0.40	-0.12	0.12	0.14	0.01	-0.02
р	0.011 *	0.479	0.469	0.404	0.936	0.893

Table 4.10: Correlation ( $\tau$ ) between KD and communication frequency and qualities. (p<0.1 . , p<0.05 \* , p<0.01 \*\* , p<0.001 \*\*\* )

expected to be normally distributed, and tests for normality confirm this expectation. The significant, moderate correlation between the proportion of informative communication and the proportion of timely communication across the entire corpus (figure 4.3) also restricts validity of models that include both of these variables. The following analyses, therefore, focus on the characteristics of communication across levels of expertise and associations between those characteristics and performance metrics but not on the predictive power of those characteristics toward performance.

#### 4.3.1 Communication and Performance Results

The ToT frequencies across the entire corpus at first appear to not be normally distributed (figure 4.4, figure 4.5). After removing four outliers, though, ToT frequency passes the Shapiro-Wilk normality test (W = 0.99, p = 0.195) and presents a more normal distribution.

There is a significant association ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) between communication frequency and KD performance across all PoI's ( $\tau = 0.12$ , p = 0.045, H1.1), within team novice PoI's ( $\tau = 0.20$ , p = 0.039), within game novice PoI's ( $\tau = 0.24$ , p = 0.018), and most specifically within TNGN PoI's ( $\tau = 0.35$ , p = 0.039, H4.1.6). Correlation between communication



Figure 4.3: Correlation matrix, of communication frequency, motivational proportion, informative proportion, timely proportion, collective proportion, and temporal information proportion. (p<0.1 . , p<0.05 \* , p<0.01 \*\*\* , p<0.001 \*\*\* )



Figure 4.4: Histogram of communication frequency over the entire corpus.

frequency and KD performance in novice teams but not in expert teams of any type aligns well with the literature. The current understanding of communication frequency points to its lack of impact in elite performance. Teams who have yet to work together and have yet to grow deeply familiar with their tasks, however, can still benefit from the development of common ground and team awareness that frequent communication affords them.

Objectives won (n = 66) and lost (n = 44) over the entire corpus are not equal, but there are enough instances of each to satisfy the requirements of a Mann-Whitney U test [78]. There are significant positive associations between communication frequency and winning an objective across all PoI's (U = 949.5, p = 0.008, H1.2), in team novice PoI's (U = 225.0, p = 0.003, figure 4.6), in game novice PoI's (U = 131.0, p = 0.010, figure 4.7), and in both TNGN (U = 28.0, p-value = 0.030, H4.2.6, figure F.9) and TNGE (U = 77.5, p = 0.013, H4.2.6, figure F.9) PoI's. These relationships mostly reflect the relationships between communication frequency and KD performance with the addition of a correlation in TNGE PoI's when looking at objective performance. Team novices at all levels of game expertise are expected, then, to experience an association between amount of communication and performance. In keeping with the literature, teams that have experience working together



Figure 4.5: Density and QQ plots of communication frequency including and omitting outliers.



Figure 4.6: Boxplots of communication frequency by objective performance in team novices and team experts.

do not necessarily benefit from communicating more. Instead, it is the quality and content of what they say that is more highly associated with their performance.

Kendall's  $\tau$  and Mann-Whitney U tests of associations between communication qualities and performance yield a significant relationship for at least some portion of this sample for each coded characteristic of communication.

Motivational communication is related to both KD performance and objective performance across all PoI's (KD:  $\tau = 0.23$ , p < 0.001, H2.1.1; Objective: U = 1029.50, p = 0.010, H2.1.2), within Team Novice PoI's (KD:  $\tau = 0.39$ , p < 0.001; Objective: U = 231.50, p = 0.004), within Game Novice PoI's (KD:  $\tau = 0.50$ , p < 0.001; Objective: U = 126.00, p = 0.002), and more specifically within TNGN PoI's (KD:  $\tau = 0.55$ , p < 0.001, H4.1.1; Objective: U= 12.00, p = 0.001, H4.2.1). Motivational communication was also significantly associated with KD performance, but not objective performance, in TEGN PoI's (KD:  $\tau = 0.29$ , p= 0.016, H4.1.1). Informative communication is significantly associated with performance among Game Novices (KD:  $\tau = -0.18$ , p = 0.031; Objective: U = 0.16, p = 0.049; H2.2.1-2).



Figure 4.7: Boxplots of communication frequency by objective performance in game novices and game experts.

Timely communication is significantly associated with objective performance, but not KD, for Team Experts (Objective: U = 202.50, p = 0.047, H2.3.1-2). Collective communication is significantly associated with KD performance but not objectives for Game Novices ( $\tau =$ 0.16, p = 0.049, H2.4.1-2). A comprehensive list of scatter plot visualizations of associations between KD performance and communication variables and box plot visualizations of how communication variables differ between objective wins and objective losses in each group can be found in appendix F.

### 4.3.2 Communication and Expertise Results

While the results reported in the Communication and Performance subsection suggest styles of communication that relate differently to performance for groups of differing expertise, the following results describe the predominant communication styles those groups display.

Two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were performed to test for effects of team experience

and game expertise on each of the coded communication variables. Each of these expertiserelated factors has two levels, novice and expert, which are defined in the Hypothesis Testing section of this chapter.

There is a significant effect of team experience with communication frequency (F(1,152) = 3.91, p = 0.049, H1.3). This ANOVA yields no significant effect, though, among game novices and game experts (H1.4) or in terms of the interaction between team and game expertise (H1.5). A post-hoc Tukey HSD analysis also finds a significant difference between team novices and team experts ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ). Team experts (M = 0.30, SD = 0.09) communicate significantly more frequently than team novices (M = 0.27, SD = 0.10). Means of each of the communication dependent variables for team novices and team experts are listed in table 4.16.

Two-way ANOVAs of the proportion of motivational communication among levels of team and game expertise (table 4.12), the proportion of informative communication among levels of team and game expertise (table 4.13), the proportion of timely communication among levels of team and game expertise (table 4.14), and the proportion of collective communication among levels of team and game expertise (table 4.15) each yield a significant effect of team experience. And each of these results are consistent with post-hoc Tukey tests at an  $\alpha$  of 0.05 (H3.1.1-4). Of those four ANOVAs, only the ANOVA test of the proportion of timely information yields a significant result across levels of game expertise (H3.2.1-4), which is also consistent with a post-hoc Tukey test with  $\alpha$  set at 0.05. Tukey's HSD test for multiple comparisons found two additional significant differences in motivational communication. Motivational communication in TNGE teams (M = 0.10, SD = 0.16) was significantly higher than that in both TEGN teams (M = 0.00, SD = 0.14; p = 0.023, 95% C.I. = [0.01, 0.19]) and TEGE teams (M = 0.00, SD = 0.11; p = 0.018, 95% C.I. = [-0.19, -0.01]).

Team experts have significantly more informative (F(1,156) = 16.39, p < 0.001; M = 0.40, SD = 0.36; H3.1.2) and timely (F(1,156) = 30.09, p < 0.001; M = 0.30, SD = 0.38; H3.1.3)

Table 4.11: two-way ANOVA of communication frequency as a function of team experience and game expertise.

Source	df	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	p
TeamXP	1	0.03	0.03	3.91	0.049 *
GameXP	1	0.02	0.02	2.39	0.124
TeamXP:GameXP	1	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.09	0.766
Error	152	1.35	0.01		
Total	155	1.40			

Table 4.12: two-way ANOVA of motivational communication as a function of team experience and game expertise.

Source	df	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	p
TeamXP	1	0.35	0.35	14.37	< 0.001 ***
GameXP	1	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.09	0.769
TeamXP:GameXP	1	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.17	0.679
Error	156	3.78	0.02		
Total	159	4.13			

Table 4.13: two-way ANOVA of informative communication as a function of team experience and game expertise.

Source	df	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	p
TeamXP	1	2.77	2.77	16.39	< 0.001 ***
GameXP	1	0.39	0.39	2.28	0.133
TeamXP:GameXP	1	0.13	0.13	0.75	0.388
Error	156	26.41	0.17		
Total	159	29.70			

Table 4.14: two-way ANOVA of timely communication as a function of team experience and game expertise.

Source	df	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	p
TeamXP	1	4.87	4.87	30.09	< 0.001 ***
GameXP	1	0.81	0.81	5.00	0.027 *
TeamXP:GameXP	1	0.01	0.01	0.06	0.807
Error	156	25.23	0.16		
Total	159	30.91			

Source	df	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	p
TeamXP	1	0.30	0.30	4.58	0.034 *
GameXP	1	0.09	0.09	1.44	0.232
TeamXP:GameXP	1	0.24	0.24	3.63	0.058 .
Error	156	10.24	0.07		
Total	159	10.90			

Table 4.15: two-way ANOVA of collective communication as a function of team experience and game expertise.

Table 4.16: Summary statistics of communication frequency and proportions of motivational, informative, timely, collective and temporal information communication by level of team experience

Team Experience	Communication Var.	Count	Mean	SD
Novice	Frequency	80	0.27	0.10
Novice	Motivational	80	0.09	0.18
Novice	Informative	80	0.13	0.46
Novice	Timely	80	-0.04	0.43
Novice	Collective	80	-0.31	0.27
Novice	Temporal Info	27	0.12	0.09
Expert	Frequency	76	0.30	0.09
Expert	Motivational	80	0.00	0.13
Expert	Informative	80	0.40	0.36
Expert	Timely	80	0.30	0.38
Expert	Collective	80	-0.40	0.25
Expert	Temporal Info	55	0.10	0.07

Table 4.17: Summary statistics of communication frequency and proportions of motivational, informative, timely, collective and temporal information communication by level of game expertise

Game Expertise	Communication Var.	Count	Mean	SD
Novice	Frequency	78	0.27	0.10
Novice	Motivational	80	0.04	0.18
Novice	Informative	80	0.39	0.22
Novice	Timely	80	0.06	0.41
Novice	Collective	80	-0.38	0.27
Novice	Temporal Info	32	0.08	0.07
Expert	Frequency	78	0.30	0.09
Expert	Motivational	80	0.05	0.15
Expert	Informative	80	0.31	0.47
Expert	Timely	80	0.20	0.46
Expert	Collective	80	-0.33	0.25
Expert	Temporal Info	50	0.12	0.08

Group	Communication Var.	Count	Mean	SD
TNGN	Frequency	40	0.26	0.09
TNGN	Motivational	40	0.09	0.20
TNGN	Informative	40	0.06	0.38
TNGN	Timely	40	-0.11	0.40
TNGN	Collective	40	-0.37	0.27
TNGN	Temporal Info	12	0.11	0.10
TEGN	Frequency	38	0.29	0.11
TEGN	Motivational	40	0.00	0.14
TEGN	Informative	40	0.38	0.35
TEGN	Timely	40	0.22	0.35
TEGN	Collective	40	-0.38	0.28
TEGN	Temporal Info	20	0.07	0.04
TNGE	Frequency	40	0.28	0.10
TNGE	Motivational	40	0.10	0.16
TNGE	Informative	40	0.21	0.52
TNGE	Timely	40	0.02	0.46
TNGE	Collective	40	-0.25	0.26
TNGE	Temporal Info	15	0.13	0.08
TEGE	Frequency	38	0.31	0.08
TEGE	Motivational	40	0.00	0.11
TEGE	Informative	40	0.42	0.38
TEGE	Timely	40	0.38	0.38
TEGE	Collective	40	-0.41	0.21
TEGE	Temporal Info	35	0.12	0.08

Table 4.18: Summary statistics of communication frequency and proportions of motivational, informative, timely, collective and temporal information communication by group

communication styles than team novices (informative: M = 0.13, SD = 0.46; timely: M = -0.04, SD = 0.43), while team novices use significantly more motivational (F(1,156) =14.37, p < 0.001; M = 0.09, SD = 0.18; H3.1.1) and collective (F(1,156) = 4.58, p = 0.034; M = -0.31, SD = 0.27; H3.1.4) talk than do team experts (motivational: M = 0.00, SD= 0.13; collective: M = -0.40, SD = 0.25). Game experts use significantly more timely communication (F(1,156) = 5.00, p = 0.027, H3.2.3) and communicate more temporal information (skewed distribution, H3.2.5) proportionally to their total communication. Means of each of the communication dependent variables for game novices and game experts are listed in table 4.17. Post-hoc Tukey's HSD tests also found significant differences in informative communication between TNGN (M = 0.06, SD = 0.38) and TEGN (M = 0.38, SD = 0.35) teams (p < 0.001, 95% C.I. = [0.08, 0.56], H3.3.2) and between TNGN and TEGE (M = 0.001, 95% C.I. = [0.08, 0.56], H3.3.2)0.42, SD = 0.38) teams (p < 0.001, 95% C.I. = [0.12, 0.60]); significant differences in timely communication between TNGN (M = -0.11, SD = 0.40) and TEGN (M = 0.22, SD = 0.40) 0.35) teams (p = 0.002, 95% C.I. = [0.10, 0.57], H3.3.3), between TNGN and TEGE (M = 0.38, SD = 0.38) teams (p < 0.001, 95% C.I. = [0.26, 0.72]), and between TNGE (M = 0.02, SD = 0.46) and TEGE teams (p < 0.001, 95% C.I. = [0.13, 0.60]); and significant differences in collective communication between TNGE (M = -0.25, SD = 0.26) and TEGE (M = -0.41, SD = 0.21) teams (p = 0.025, 95% C.I. = [-0.31, -0.02], H3.3.4). Game expertise is only significantly associated with timeliness of communication, and further work is needed to confirm the potential result of game experts sharing more temporal information (H3.2.5). See table 4.18 for a summary of the means and standard deviations of each of these communication variables for each group.

The distribution of task-oriented temporal information is heavily skewed, and almost half of the PoI's in the corpus contain no task-oriented temporal information at all (n = 78where temporal information proportion is 0). After removing those PoI's where a team communicated no task-oriented temporal information, this distribution is still heavily skewed (figure 4.8) and remains so after log transforming the data. I report the results of the two-



Figure 4.8: Histograms of temporal information communication including 0 values on the left and excluding 0 values on the right.

way ANOVA of temporal information communication in these 82 PoI's in appendix G table G.1 for completeness.

## 4.3.3 Summary of Significant Findings

This subsection offers a brief, high-level summary of the significant findings detailed in this section. I discuss these findings and how they relate to team communication and team cognition more broadly in the next section.

The TN teams in this sample used significantly more collective and motivational language, while the TE teams used significantly more timely and informative language. The TEGE teams consistently used temporal information, but communicating temporal information was rare or did not happen in other teams.

Communicating frequently and motivationally was significantly related to performance in TN teams. Timely communication was significantly related to performance in TE teams.

## 4.4 Discussion

These analyses describe how teams of differing levels of team experience and game-specific expertise communicate to manage attention and maintain coordination. Asking these questions of LoL teams provides an example for creating similar profiles of teams in other competitive, cooperative, and collaborative games. The methods presented here for analyzing team communication are also applicable, though, to teamwork in domains beyond video games. Using similar methods to describe and understand the use and impact of communication frequency, quality, and content for teams in disparate domains will allow comparisons across teams working in seemingly varied contexts. Those comparisons will allow researchers to base taxonomic theory on empirical data and provide data-driven insights to teams across fields. If the data of teams in esports and aircraft navigation, for example, are consistent with one another and show consistent effects on team performance, a team in a high consequence domain, like safely navigating aircraft, will be able to benefit from better understanding how experiments performed in a much lower consequence domain, like competitive video gaming, may provide insights for teamwork more broadly. Regardless of the results of this study, these methods establish a means to explore relationships between communication, expertise, and performance at a level of detail not possible without this combination of API data, game telemetry, and screen and voice recordings, and the findings point to opportunities for future work testing communication practices for similar relationships in other domains.

Due to Marlow, Lacerenza, and Salas's [81] well-supported assertion that communication frequency likely impacts performance differently in different frequency ranges and in different kinds of teams, the more specific analyses of relationships between communication frequency are more illuminating than the association found across all PoI's. The potential pattern of team experts communicating more frequently warrants further investigation. The difference seen in these data is not significant, but this is a particular phenomenon that merits further study on its own. Understanding more precisely when communication is too frequent and prone to obscuring teamwork and decreasing performance is a vital problem for teams to explore, especially in domains where not enough communication and too much communication can each cause threats to the safety of patients, passengers, and team members.

Teams with more experience together use significantly less motivational talk. Without rich qualitative data of team members' reasons for and perceptions of motivational communication, why this difference exists is opaque. Potential inferences from these data and teams research literature indicate that it could be because teammates with more experience working together are more likely to have established trust more strongly and therefore feel communicating motivational support to be unnecessary. In teams with less experience working together, that motivational communication could be part of the process of building trust and establishing common ground. In other words, TN teams may be building that trust and establishing common ground by using positive valence communication to identify desired behavior and reinforce teammate relationships, while TE teams already understand the expectations of their task and their team. These analyses, however, do not provide the kind of insights necessary to explain this phenomenon, and these results require rich qualitative work to support and contextualize these inferences.

Teams with more experience together also communicate significantly more information proportionally to their total communication. This difference in how and what teams communicate also implies key differences in why new and experienced teams communicate. While newly formed teams rely on expressing positive reactions without specific information to identify the kinds of behavior they expect of each member and of their coordinated performance, experienced teams focus on distributing knowledge to benefit the team's awareness of the game state. Each member of an experienced team can rely on their understanding of the teams' expectations to guide their behavior, and the team as a whole can trust each member to use information in accordance with established expectations. The better each member – and the team as a whole – understands the current situation, goals, and sub-goals, the better they can align their behavior with their understanding of the team's expected behavior. For a team that has worked together enough to have strong, implicit, shared understanding and expectations of team behavior, then, communicating more information about what is happening in the game – and less motivational judgements of team behavior – provides the necessary context for players, individually and collectively, to act according to team expectations. One team expectation necessarily underlying this behavior is that team members are responsible for collecting and distributing information. How a LoL team goes about this process of collecting, communicating, and acting upon information from the world is discussed in detail in chapter 3. How other teams perform this process has been well-documented for some domains, like in Hutchins's [61] work describing Distributed Cognition in aircraft and naval navigation. Using a similar set of quantitative or mixed methods across domains, however, will be necessary for meaningfully comparing these team cognition and communication behaviors in a way that can lead to findings from one domain generalizing meaningfully to insights for another.

The significantly more timely communication of teams with more team experience supports this inference that team experts are communicating more information with less motivational valence in order to inform their decision-making and coordination by using available information to communicate expectations of team behavior. In other words, TE teams talk about what is currently happening and what is about to happen, while TN teams talk, on average, more about what happened in the past. This timeliness is crucial for both tightly coordinated joint action and for strategizing to prepare for future coordination. The tendency of team novices to fixate more on past activity restricts that ability to coordinate on both short and long timescales. One explanation for team novices' lack of timely communication is that they spend more time talking about what just happened as part of establishing expectations about team behavior in the future. This kind of debrief in experienced teams often takes place after a game, so that the team can manage its attentional resources on performing and strategizing during play, knowing that they will have an opportunity to provide and receive feedback and develop their expectations later.

The use of collective communication was consistently low across all levels of expertise. Among game experts, though, those with no team experience used more plural pronouns than the team experts. While measuring collective communication was posited as a potential alternative to the questionable indicators of team-oriented play used thus far in LoL research, it was only associated with performance outcomes for game novices. It may provide more insight into how teams who have expertise in their task but no experience with their teammates start to build the common ground they need to perform as a collective unit. This process is apparent in TNGE teams' use of more motivational and collective language with lower timeliness compared to TEGE teams. These game experts, then, when faced with the prospect of learning how to coordinate with a new team, work to build trust, common ground, and understanding of expectations by reacting to desired behavior with more positively valenced, collective communication. TEGE teams' much more timely communication points to their already having established that team cohesiveness, freeing their communications to focus on communicating information for coordination in the present moment and for planning for future action.

Game experts communicate temporal information more than game novice teams proportionally to their total communication. This supports Marlow, Lacerenza, & Salas's (2017) identification of task-oriented communication as one of the most influential aspects of communication content for team interactions. These teams have the game expertise necessary to understand, identify, and make use of vital time-related information without lengthy conversation in the midst of critical moments of competition with their opponents.

Teams that have not played together before have much more work to do establishing common ground [17]. This is one explanation for team novices' higher amounts of communication relating to better performance. Teams with experience playing together do not see the same benefits from increased chatter, potentially because their communication is reserved for distributing information about what is currently or what is about to happen. For these teams that have a shared history that they can rely on for common ground and shared understanding of expectations, any additional communication, like motivational talk lacking actionable content, may clutter their communication channels and obscure or delay distribution of critical information.

## 4.5 Limitations & Future Work

As a presentation of novel methods for and approach to researching team cognition, and as an attempt to build a foundation for generalizable teams science across domains, this study necessarily has many limitations. My argument for this paradigm of team video games as a testing ground for teams in other domains requires much future work before we can reasonably translate findings across domains.

#### 4.5.1 Limitations of the Sample

A major limitation of any sample of a large and difficult-to-census population is the representativeness of that sample. The game experts in this sample are significantly older than the game novices. This relationship logically likely holds in the broader competitive LoL player population, because older players have had longer to develop expertise. There is, however, no way of knowing whether it is, in fact, representative of the entire competitive LoL population without a demographic census. More generally, it is difficult to assess whether the demographics of the teams in each group of this sample accurately represent the makeup of teams at similar levels of expertise in the competitive LoL population. These demographic differences can be impactful when comparing team communication across levels of expertise. This sample ranges in age from 15 years to 25 years, which cover significant developmental changes. It is impossible to know, given these data, whether the differences observed in team communication styles between novices and experts were confounded by the differences in age and therefore cognitive development of the participants.

Further, this sample does not contain enough teams with enough different types of diversity to compare teams with different demographic compositions. There's a substantial body of literature exploring the effects of different kinds of diversity on teamwork in a variety of contexts. These diversity factors range from ethnicity to gender and from language to educational background. Understanding how different kinds of diversity interact with these delineations of expertise and communication patterns in high pressure situations would contribute insights to that conversation that might help explain differences in the work of diverse teams.

More fine-grained understanding of expertise would also improve this work. Team experts ranged from 10 to 500 games played together as reported by the participants. While the experience gained as a team over ten games differentiates a team from a group of players who have never played together, there are likely differences in communication and team cognitive work between a team that has worked together ten times and a team that has worked together hundreds of times. Ten games is enough to develop some common ground and understanding of expectations, but the trust and understanding gained over hundreds of hours playing together is likely observable in how teams communicate, perform, and distribute their cognitive work. Game experts ranged from Gold-ranked, or roughly the top third of ranked players, to Challenger-ranked, or roughly the top 0.01% of ranked players. Similar to the likely gap in team experience, this difference in game expertise is obvious to any observer familiar with the task. While GE teams were matched into sessions with teams of similar average ranks, aggregating team communication data across these disparate levels of expertise loses granularity that may reveal differences in how the most elite teams communicate.

### 4.5.2 Limitations of the Research Protocol

Adapting a research protocol that was originally meant for in-person observation and data collection into a remote study in response to the COVID-19 pandemic presented unexpected hurdles. The original methods included triangulating periods of interest for analysis based on the gameplay data around objective fights and team fights, which were used, but also based on salivary cortisol levels, which were not collected, and heart rate variability (HRV), which were not used. Identifying PoI's with this combination of gameplay and stress data, and analyzing the changes in stress data, would have allowed for analysis of team communication and stress levels as they relate to and respond to each other. In other words, how teams communicate during stressful periods of play, but also how teams might use communication to mitigate stress during those periods, are both research questions that the original methodology would have focused on. Attention management under stress is difficult work, and understanding how team interactions play a role would have implications for team training toward safety and performance across domains. The collection of saliva for cortisol analysis was not an option during COVID-19 lock-downs when these data were collected. I did send heart rate monitors to participants to wear during data collection along with detailed instructions on how best to wear and operate them, but without in-person guidance and supervision, the HRV data was not collected rigorously enough to be reliable or valid.

Other issues from remote data collection included participants' internet going out during data collection sessions and less ability to help participants troubleshoot software and hardware issues. While I was able to resolve each instance where these problems arose, some data collection sessions spanned upwards of four hours as a result of such issues. The extended duration of some sessions could have contributed to participant fatigue and impacted team communication in the latter games of those sessions.

The lack of qualitative data collection and analysis regarding why teams use different styles of

communication leaves many open questions around the inferences drawn from these results. Even whether any of these characteristics of team communication are intentional on the part of teams or individuals is unknown. These findings are most impactful for practitioners if teams can recognize these communication styles in their own work and intentionally change their communication practices. To support that process, research is needed to better understand the common reasons behind the different styles and the best practices for recognizing and altering influential aspects of team communication.

## 4.5.3 Selecting Periods of Play under Pressure instead of Measuring Stress

The PoI's analyzed in this study are assumed to be high pressure, stress-inducing periods, because of the fights they feature around key objectives. There are many rigorous methods for collecting data on stress that don't require that assumption. This report makes effective use of none of them. The original design of this study brought participants into the lab and made use of both cortisol levels in saliva and HRV to identify PoI's of elevated stress and arousal across the team. The COVID-19 pandemic made it unwise to bring ten participants and a handful of researchers together in person, and saliva collection was out of the question. Reworking the methods to run data collection sessions remotely not only allowed this work to move forward, it also created a study environment much closer to how LoL teams work together in the wild. Each participant received a Polar H10 heart rate monitor to wear during data collection and to keep as part of their compensation for participating. While rigorously collected HRV during play is an illuminating measure of stress and arousal, the combination of participants inconsistently understanding heart rate monitor instructions and lack of other measures of stress made it impossible to infer team stress levels from the collected HRV data. These data were therefore omitted from analyses.

#### 4.5.4 Future Work

The methods developed for this study are designed for use across domains to produce comparable findings in pursuit of generalizability of team communication and team cognition research. Future work conducting similar studies using these methods to describe team communication practices in other domains will test the viability of this methodology. Chapter 5 explains the concept of isomorphism between teams in disparate domains.

More work is required to understand why certain communication styles are associated with performance at different levels of expertise and whether those relationships are task-specific. I can draw many inferences based on existing theory in the literature pointing to increased awareness and reduced error, but even causation is not ascertainable with these methods. These methods are, however, useful for discovering such areas worthy of further examination.

The generalizable teams research that I argue for in this dissertation is only testable through a combination of studies. Work collecting and analyzing rich qualitative data is needed to better understand why these teams use specific communication styles. Crucially, though, studies using methods similar to those presented in this chapter focusing on teams in disparate domains that share characteristics and pressures like those described in chapter 5 are needed to identify consistencies and differences between team communication practices in teams that might learn from one another. If the kinds of communication associated with performance are consistent between these teams across domains, work to understand team development through learning and training team communication will be vital. Testing different team development strategies in esports allows much wider margins for error and for creative approaches than does testing for similar communication practices across domains will be the first step toward a domain-general understanding of the role of team communication in team cognition and performance. Studies testing development of those communication practices in one domain and testing transference of those practices to teams in other domains will give that domain-general theory actionable value for teams in the wild.

## 4.6 Summary

This chapter reports a novel 2x2 factorial design comparing communication frequency, style, and content across two kinds of expertise in LoL: experience with teammates and in-game rank. The methods developed for this work build on team science and peer mentoring literature to offer a potential methodology for team communication research that is generalizable across domains for teams that - as described further in chapter 5 - share certain characteristics and work under similar pressures. The findings indicate that Team Expert teams communicate more, are less motivational and collective, but share more information in a more timely manner than Team Novices. Game Experts only significantly differ from Game Novices by communicating more task-oriented temporal information in a more timely manner. Team Novice/Game Novice teams' performance seems to benefit from increased communication frequency, despite their likelihood of communicating less frequently. On the other hand, these TNGN teams' performance also benefits from more motivational communication, which they are more likely to rely on regardless of communication frequency. These results provide insights into types of communication teams of varying levels of expertise can practice and learn to use in pursuit of performance and team development. Future work will explore these same aspects of team communication in similar teams that work in other domains to test these methods and to explore whether these results are consistent across domains.

# Chapter 5

# **Isomorphic Teams**

## 5.1 Introduction

This work focuses on communication in *League of Legends* (LoL), in particular, because of similarities between competitive LoL teams and literature describing small teams in domains outside of esports, like emergency medicine and air traffic control. If expert LoL communication practices relate to stress responses that do not hinder performance, the content, style, and structure of that communication might also benefit teams in contexts with more severe consequences. If expert LoL communication practices do not relate to consistent performance under pressure, there could be an opportunity to adapt communication practices of other domains to test against existing practices in esports. In other words, this is an approach to esports research that would inform life outside of competitive gaming. As Mc-Carthy argued for "chess as the Drosophila [fruit fly] of artificial intelligence" [83], this work argues for esports as a Drosophila of team research.

Better understanding how cognitive skills like attention management emerge on the team level – as opposed to the individual level – is crucial for designing systems that support the teams that work synchronously under time pressure. Identifying strategies for joint attention in elite esports teams specifically will deepen our understanding of how to design for and train coordination in high performance teams more broadly. In the interest of making this research generalizable from esports teams to other domains, I am considering a variety of teams in other domains as isomorphic to esports teams. The characteristics of interest that make these teams isomorphic include temporal pressure, attentional synchrony, techmediated communication, shared access to at least a portion of the task-relevant information, shared goals, differentiated roles, and intentional leadership structure. Well-researched teams that fit this definition of isomorphism include those in emergency management and medicine [101], naval navigation [61], and air traffic control [77] giving credence to the idea that strategies for developing attentional control in esports teams might generalize to less controllable and replicable contexts. If so, studying – even designing controlled experiments around – team level cognitive processes in the context of competitive video games can translate to safer design and more effective learning strategies for these isomorphic teams.

The isomorphic teams described in the introduction were chosen for certain similarities with esports teams so that future work might generalize beyond competitive video game play. The goal in describing these teams is to highlight a category of team that is defined by characteristics as opposed to domain. This allows research that identifies predictors of performance in one such team to enter into the discussion of team performance in other domains with isomorphic teams.

## 5.2 Characteristics of Esports and Isomorphic Teams

Table 5.1 uses examples from teamwork in League of Legends (LoL) [42] and three nonesports contexts to illustrate how the characteristics that define this category manifest across domains. The argument presented with this table is that there is a category of team whose members work under temporal pressure, require attentional synchrony to accomplish tasks, require some communication through technology as opposed to face to face, have common access to at least some task-relevant information, share common goals, work in clearly differentiated roles, and employ an intentional leadership structure. This definition intentionally omits any reference to the content of the teams' goals and tasks. The strength of this definition is that omission, since it allows comparisons of teams that work with similar structures and under similar pressures but may not work in similar domains.

LoL teams, for example, must perform under time pressure both because they are racing to destroy their opponent's base before their opponent destroys theirs and because success in teamfights depends on split-second coordination of multiple players using specific abilities to engage or disengage enemy players. That level of coordination in teamfights also requires attentional synchrony. In order to understand when and how they need to act to land combinations of attacks with their teammates, each player attends to the same stimuli. An example is Blitzcrank's hook ability. If Blitzcrank hits an enemy with its hook, the target is pulled toward Blitzcrank, where they are vulnerable to further attacks. Every time Blitzcrank uses its hook, though, it cannot be used for a few seconds <sup>1</sup>. When deciding if and when to engage against a team with a Blitzcrank, success against a skilled opponent requires each player attend to that hook simultaneously. The team's best chance of winning the fight is immediately after hook is used, because they have at least 8.8 seconds where they can engage without the threat of being pulled toward Blitzcrank. If some team members are not attending to the hook, valuable time is wasted alerting them that Blitzcrank just used it. Instead of immediately attacking, the team either waits and the opportunity is lost, or some members attack and some do not, splitting the team and leaving them vulnerable. Blitzcrank's hook is just one example of an ability that has to be played around in order to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Base cooldown of 20 seconds at match start. By mid- to late-game, when teamfights are more common, it can have a base cooldown of 16 seconds minus 40% to 45% maximum cooldown reduction from items, leaving a minimum of 8.8 seconds between casts. This is considered a long cooldown for an ability, generally only surpassed by ultimate abilities and summoner spells.
win teamfights. In any given game, each team has a number of such tools to work with and against. Communication about teamfight strategy must therefore happen in large part before it is actually time to fight, because once a fight begins, communication is often reduced to single-word or ping commands to announce targets or moments to act. Without each player attending to the same stimuli, those commands lose context and acting upon them at the right time in the right manner is not consistently feasible.

Emergency department staff do not have a competitor. Their goals have nothing to do with out-smarting or out-coordinating another team. The tasks they complete to achieve their goals look very different from fighting in competitive video games, changing the flap orientation of airplane wings, or swapping tires on a Formula 1 car. The structures and pressures within which they work, however, are similar enough to a Formula 1 pit-stop and an aircraft landing procedure for Catchpole et al. [13] to design a new patient handover protocol based on observations of pit-stops and interviews with a race director and two aircraft captains. The new protocol reduced errors in task completion and omissions of information transferred during patient handover from the operating theater to the intensive care unit (ICU), in addition to shortening the duration of that process. From those observations and interviews, the researchers made changes to the leadership structure, temporal ordering of tasks, task allocation, safety checks, and communication structure of the teams of doctors and nurses that handle the transfer of a patient from surgery to ICU. Each of these changes made part of the process more explicitly structured. For instance, based on the clear responsibility and leadership of the lollipop man's role in a pit-stop and the captain's role on a flight, the new protocol gave clear "overall responsibility for coordinating the team" to the anesthetist for the duration of the handover and to the intensivist at the end of the handover, where previously it was "unclear who was in charge" at any given moment [13]. Similarly, the expectations of the structure of communication were made explicit based on the "very little verbal communication during a pit-stop" and the "explicit communication strategies used to ensure a calm and organized atmosphere" [13] in an aircraft. During patient handover, the researchers limited speaking to the anesthetist and surgeon before allowing general discussion, instead of the "several simultaneous discussions" that occurred under the old, less explicitly structured, handover protocol. To evaluate the old and new protocols, a researcher observed 23 old protocol handovers and 27 new protocol handovers. Errors in the procedure were recorded using a checklist of tasks that comprise a handover; omissions in transferring information were recorded using a checklist of key pieces of information that should always be shared during handover; the time "from the moment the patient entered the ICU to the moment the theater team left the bedside" was recorded; and team performance was rated by the observer in terms of "leadership and teamwork, task management, workspace and equipment, [and] situation awareness" on a five-point Likert scale for each construct [13]. Every measure showed statistically significant improvement under the new protocol developed by adapting successful practices used by isomorphic teams.

Among emergency department staff in hospitals, temporal pressure is the result of emergency rooms full of sick and injured patients waiting to be cared for and, in some cases, government mandates of the maximum amount of time a hospital is permitted before tending to a new patient waiting in the emergency room [37]. For Formula 1 pit crews it comes from their team's foremost goal: be faster than everyone else without making errors. In a cockpit, temporal pressure arises from the need to decide how to alter flight to reach a safe speed, heading, and altitude for landing [61]. Catchpole et al.'s [13] results show promise that teams can learn from the practices of isomorphic teams despite working in disparate domains. The goal of establishing this category of isomorphic teams around characteristics found in esports teams is to allow lessons learned from researching esports teams to be useful in other contexts where data are harder to collect.

Note that table 5.1 is not itself a taxonomy. Rather it outlines one category of isomorphic teams that would be described within a taxonomy. While that taxonomy will be helpful for understanding the range of teams across domains that might learn from each other,

detailing this one category is enough to begin work that might generalize between esports and isomorphic teams.

	Formula 1	"The pit-stop (change four tyres and fill with fuel) under huge time pressure (approx 7s) with minimal error" [13]	Sensor data and warnings displayed simultaneously to driver, technical team, and race engineer	Sensor data avilable to driver, race engineer, and technical team
most num environt to or	Aircraft navigation	Precise timing of changes in elevation, heading, and speed to stay safe and on schedule [61]	Pilots' and copilots' "redundancy in the visual field" [38] "Crew coordination cross-checking procedures" [61]	Pilots and copilots have identical sets of gauges, and checklist procedure sometimes necessitate joint attention to a specific gauge [61]
with examples in our man	Emergency medicine	"The four-hour target" [37] "The handover of patients from theater to ICU" [13]	Clinicians look at patient records together when problem-solving [4]	"Shared knowledge of task structure and team processes" [101]
	$Esports \ (LoL)$	Split-second coordination [96]	Target acquisition in teamfights Minion wave management	On all team members' screens: - Minimap - Teammate health and mana - Teammate and enemy items - Text chat log
Т	Feature	Temporal pressure	Attentional synchrony	Common access to information

Table 5.1: Characteristics and examples from *Leanue of Leaends* and isomorphic teams.

ld isomorphic teams.	<sup>q</sup> ormula 1	Vin race Complete laps and pit tops faster than pponents Execute race strategy	Each team member has only one or two clearly lefined tasks." [13]	Race team: race ingineer Technical team: chief echnical officer Pit crew: lollipop man [13]
om League of Legends ar	Aircraft navigation	Navigate safely and efficiently from origin to destination - c Complete checklist c procedure accurately -	"Explicit acknowledged" allocation of tasks for c emergencies" [13] c	Captain [13]
teristics and examples fro	Emergency medicine	"Well-articulated and understood goals and vision are necessary for giving as well as integrating feedback" [101]	"Allows teams member to formulate accurate expectations of needs during high-stress work episodes." [101]	Resuscitation team leaders [19]
(continued): Charact	$Esports \ (LoL)$	Destroy enemy nexus - Destroy towers - Control objectives - Control vision - Amass gold and experience	Map positions (e.g. top laner, jungler) Teamfight roles (e.g. tank, engage)	Shotcaller
Table 5.1	Feature	Common goals	Differentiated roles	Intentional leadership structure

### 5.3 Empirical Work toward Generalization

Taken together with the methods and findings reported in chapter 4, this category of team – and this way of thinking about teams in disparate domains – is an invitation for future work toward domain-general team science. Building an understanding of how these teams compare in terms of the aspects of communication detailed in chapter 4 is a starting point for developing a kind of research that might allow, for example, a team in emergency medicine to improve their patient care based on knowledge gained from people playing video games.

### Chapter 6

### Conclusion

This dissertation begins with a description of how I arrived at studying teams of people playing video games. Through these chapters I explain my focus on team cognition and communication, identifying video games as a context for studying phenomena that can provide insights for higher consequence domains. I review previous literature and ongoing academic conversations about team cognition, team taxonomies, and esports, highlighting the issues with many theoretically-derived taxonomies not building on empirical data. The methods for the novel study presented in chapter 4 are described and scoped to establish and justify work toward domain-general teams research that can, with future work, allow findings from teams in one context to reliably inform the practices of teams with similar characteristics and under similar pressures in seemingly disparate domains. This study uses those methods to better understand what differentiates the communication of expert and novice teams in terms of both experience working as a team and game-specific expertise. The scope of this work is both narrow – in that it focuses on communication in teams that play a particular esport at certain levels of expertise – and broad – in that it is designed to explore how teams communicate to perform under pressure, regardless of domain. The findings advance understanding of how these teams communicate when tight coordination and performance matter most, and how that communication differs in expert and novice teams. The methods developed for this dissertation offer a means for broadening that knowledge across contexts.

A near constant connection through networked computing permeates how we work and how we play. How we coordinate and collaborate often dictates how we feel, how we learn, and how we perform. Communication is how we develop and execute that teamwork. I pursue generalizability in describing and improving team communication so that advances in the practices of teams in low consequence domains can inform the practices of teams that operate under similar pressures but with much higher consequences to their work. This dissertation is far from achieving that goal, but it presents the argument, details my approach, and expounds research toward a domain-general understanding of team communication.

### Bibliography

- S. T. Allison and D. M. Messick. The group attribution error. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 21(6):563–579, 1985.
- [2] L. Argote, C. A. Insko, N. Yovetich, and A. A. Romero. Group learning curves: the effects of turnover and task complexity on group performance 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 25(6):512–529, 1995.
- [3] J. Ash. Technology, technicity, and emerging practices of temporal sensitivity in videogames. *Environment and Planning A*, 44(1):187–203, 2012.
- [4] M. Bång and T. Timpka. Cognitive tools in medical teamwork: the spatial arrangement of patient records. *Methods of information in medicine*, 42(4):331–336, 2003.
- [5] B. S. Bell, S. W. Kozlowski, and S. Blawath. Team learning: A theoretical integration and review. 2012.
- [6] M. Borowy. Pioneering esport: the experience economy and the marketing of early 1980s arcade gaming contests. *International Journal of Communication*, 7:21, 2013.
- [7] M. B. Brewer. The social self: On being the same and different at the same time. *Personality and social psychology bulletin*, 17(5):475–482, 1991.
- [8] T. Brock. Roger callois and e-sports: On the problems of treating play as work. Games and Culture, 12(4):321–339, 2017.
- [9] J. Bryce and J. Rutter. Killing like a girl: Gendered gaming and girl gamers' visibility. In J. Raessens and J. Goldstein, editors, *Handbook of Computer Game Studies*, pages 301–310. MIT Press, 2005.
- [10] Bungie. Halo 3 [video game]. Redmond, WA: Microsoft Game Studios, 2007.
- [11] D. L. Burk. Owning e-sports: Proprietary rights in professional computer gaming. University of Pennsylvania Law Review, 161(6):1535–1578, 2013.
- [12] B. Burroughs and P. Rama. The esports trojan horse: Twitch and streaming futures. Journal For Virtual Worlds Research, 8(2), 2015.

- [13] K. R. Catchpole, M. R. De Leval, A. McEwan, N. Pigott, M. J. Elliott, A. McQuillan, C. Macdonald, and A. J. Goldman. Patient handover from surgery to intensive care: using formula 1 pit-stop and aviation models to improve safety and quality. *Pediatric* anesthesia, 17(5):470–478, 2007.
- [14] M. Chen. Leet Noobs: Expertise and Collaboration in a "World of Warcraft" Player Group as Distributed Sociomaterial Practice. University of Washington, 2010.
- [15] G. Cheung and J. Huang. Starcraft from the stands: understanding the game spectator. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems, pages 763–772, 2011.
- [16] S. Converse, J. Cannon-Bowers, and E. Salas. Shared mental models in expert team decision making. *Individual and group decision making: Current issues*, 221:221–46, 1993.
- [17] G. Convertino, H. M. Mentis, M. B. Rosson, J. M. Carroll, A. Slavkovic, and C. H. Ganoe. Articulating common ground in cooperative work: content and process. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, pages 1637–1646, 2008.
- [18] N. J. Cooke, J. C. Gorman, C. W. Myers, and J. L. Duran. Interactive team cognition. Cognitive science, 37(2):255–285, 2013.
- [19] S. Cooper and A. Wakelam. Leadership of resuscitation teams: 'lighthouse leadership'. *Resuscitation*, 42(1):27–45, 1999.
- [20] P. Corporation. Playerunknown's battlegrounds [video game], 2017.
- [21] V. Corporation. Dota 2 [video game], 2013.
- [22] L. A. DeChurch and J. R. Mesmer-Magnus. The cognitive underpinnings of effective teamwork: a meta-analysis. *Journal of applied psychology*, 95(1):32, 2010.
- [23] R. Devadas and L. Argote. Collective learning and forgetting: The effects of turnover and group structure. In *Midwestern Psychological Association Meeting, Chicago*, pages 67–78, 1995.
- [24] G. C. Devia-Allen. Good game well played: An esports documentary. Illinois State University, 2017.
- [25] D. J. Devine. A review and integration of classification systems relevant to teams in organizations. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 6:291, 2002.
- [26] A. Drachen, M. Yancey, J. Maguire, D. Chu, I. Y. Wang, T. Mahlmann, M. Schubert, and D. Klabajan. Skill-based differences in spatio-temporal team behaviour in defence of the ancients 2 (dota 2). In 2014 IEEE Games Media Entertainment, pages 1–8. IEEE, 2014.

- [27] J. E. Driskell, E. Salas, and T. Driskell. Foundations of teamwork and collaboration. American Psychologist, 73(4):334, 2018.
- [28] F. T. Durso and C. A. Manning. Air traffic control. Reviews of human factors and ergonomics, 4(1):195–244, 2008.
- [29] M. S. El-Nasr, A. Drachen, and A. Canossa. *Game analytics*. Springer, 2016.
- [30] B. Entertainment. Starcraft ii [computer game]. Irvine, CA: Author, 2010.
- [31] E. E. Entin and D. Serfaty. Adaptive team coordination. Human factors, 41(2):312– 325, 1999.
- [32] R. Espevik, B. H. Johnsen, J. Eid, and J. F. Thayer. Shared mental models and operational effectiveness: Effects on performance and team processes in submarine attack teams. *Military Psychology*, 18(sup1):S23–S36, 2006.
- [33] Fandom. University of california irvine/tournament results, 2022.
- [34] R. Fernandez, S. Shah, E. D. Rosenman, S. W. Kozlowski, S. H. Parker, and J. A. Grand. Developing team cognition: a role for simulation. Simulation in healthcare: journal of the Society for Simulation in Healthcare, 12(2):96, 2017.
- [35] S. M. Fiore, M. Rosen, E. Salas, S. Burke, and F. Jentsch. Processes in complex team problem-solving: parsing and defining the theoretical problem space. In *Macrocognition* in teams, pages 143–163. CRC Press, 2017.
- [36] S. M. Fiore, M. A. Rosen, K. A. Smith-Jentsch, E. Salas, M. Letsky, and N. Warner. Toward an understanding of macrocognition in teams: Predicting processes in complex collaborative contexts. *Human Factors*, 52(2):203–224, 2010.
- [37] L. Flowerdew, R. Brown, S. Russ, C. Vincent, and M. Woloshynowych. Teams under pressure in the emergency department: an interview study. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 29(12):e2–e2, 2012.
- [38] R. M. Frankel and J. J. Saleem. "attention on the flight deck": what ambulatory care providers can learn from pilots about complex coordinated actions. *Patient education* and counseling, 93(3):367–372, 2013.
- [39] G. Freeman and D. Y. Wohn. esports as an emerging research context at chi: Diverse perspectives on definitions. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI conference extended abstracts on human factors in computing systems*, pages 1601–1608, 2017.
- [40] G. Freeman and D. Y. Wohn. Social support in esports: building emotional and esteem support from instrumental support interactions in a highly competitive environment. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play, pages 435–447, 2017.
- [41] G. Freeman and D. Y. Wohn. Understanding esports team formation and coordination. Computer supported cooperative work (CSCW), 28(1):95–126, 2019.

- [42] R. Games. League of legends [video game]. Los Angeles, CA: Riot Games, 2009.
- [43] R. Games. Summoner's rift map experience, 2017.
- [44] N. J. Gommesen. The affective audience in professional e-sport: An exploration of spectators, and their impact on video game playing. Master's thesis, Roskilde University, 2012.
- [45] J. C. Gorman, M. J. Martin, T. A. Dunbar, R. H. Stevens, T. L. Galloway, P. G. Amazeen, and A. D. Likens. Cross-level effects between neurophysiology and communication during team training. *Human factors*, 58(1):181–199, 2016.
- [46] P. Goyal, A. Sapienza, and E. Ferrara. Recommending teammates with deep neural networks. In Proceedings of the 29th on Hypertext and Social Media, pages 57–61. 2018.
- [47] P. B. Gray, J. Vuong, D. T. Zava, and T. S. McHale. Testing men's hormone responses to playing league of legends: No changes in testosterone, cortisol, dhea or androstenedione but decreases in aldosterone. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 83:230–234, 2018.
- [48] W. D. Gray. Game-xp: Action games as experimental paradigms for cognitive science, 2017.
- [49] W. D. Gray, A. Bender, C. F. Chabris, E. Ferstl, R. M. French, R. L. Goldstone, U. Hahn, M. Hegarty, R. Hertwig, S. Reed, et al. Topics in cognitive science. 2009.
- [50] A. Guttmann. From ritual to record: The nature of modern sports. Columbia University Press, 2004.
- [51] K. A. Hallgren. Computing inter-rater reliability for observational data: an overview and tutorial. *Tutorials in quantitative methods for psychology*, 8(1):23, 2012.
- [52] K. Hallmann and T. Giel. esports-competitive sports or recreational activity? Sport management review, 21(1):14–20, 2018.
- [53] J. Hamari and M. Sjöblom. What is esports and why do people watch it? Internet research, 27:211–232, 2017.
- [54] W. A. Hamilton, O. Garretson, and A. Kerne. Streaming on twitch: fostering participatory communities of play within live mixed media. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI* conference on human factors in computing systems, pages 1315–1324, 2014.
- [55] T. Harper. The culture of digital fighting games: Performance and practice. Routledge, 2013.
- [56] D. Hemphill. Cybersport. Journal of the Philosophy of Sport, 32(2):195–207, 2005.
- [57] J. T. Holden, A. Kaburakis, and R. Rodenberg. The future is now: Esports policy considerations and potential litigation. *J. Legal Aspects Sport*, 27:46, 2017.

- [58] J. Holt. Virtual domains for sports and games. Sport, Ethics and Philosophy, 10(1):5– 13, 2016.
- [59] J. Huang, E. Yan, G. Cheung, N. Nagappan, and T. Zimmermann. Master maker: Understanding gaming skill through practice and habit from gameplay behavior. *Topics* in cognitive science, 9(2):437–466, 2017.
- [60] B. Hutchins. Signs of meta-change in second modernity: the growth of e-sport and the world cyber games. New Media & Society, 10(6):851–869, 2008.
- [61] E. Hutchins. How a cockpit remembers its speeds. *Cognitive science*, 19(3):265–288, 1995.
- [62] W. Ickes and R. Gonzalez. Social" cognition and social cognition. What's social about social cognition, pages 285–309, 1996.
- [63] IFCSC. Archives: Ifcsc 2018-2019 final results, 2019.
- [64] K. Jonasson and J. Thiborg. Electronic sport and its impact on future sport. Sport in society, 13(2):287–299, 2010.
- [65] C. M. Judd, C. S. Ryan, and B. Park. Accuracy in the judgment of in-group and out-group variability. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 61(3):366, 1991.
- [66] B. Kane and S. Luz. Multidisciplinary medical team meetings: An analysis of collaborative working with special attention to timing and teleconferencing. *Computer* Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW), 15(5):501–535, 2006.
- [67] M. Kaytoue, A. Silva, L. Cerf, W. Meira Jr, and C. Raïssi. Watch me playing, i am a professional: a first study on video game live streaming. In *Proceedings of the 21st* international conference on world wide web, pages 1181–1188, 2012.
- [68] J. Kim, B. C. Keegan, S. Park, and A. Oh. The proficiency-congruency dilemma: Virtual team design and performance in multiplayer online games. In *Proceedings of* the 2016 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems, pages 4351–4365, 2016.
- [69] S. J. Kim. Gender inequality in esports participation: examining league of legends. Master's thesis, University of Texas, 2017.
- [70] S. W. J. Kozlowski and B. S. Bell. Work groups and teams in organizations. 2013.
- [71] J. R. Landis and G. G. Koch. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *biometrics*, pages 159–174, 1977.
- [72] A. Leavitt, B. C. Keegan, and J. Clark. Ping to win? non-verbal communication and team performance in competitive online multiplayer games. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 4337–4350, 2016.

- [73] D. Lee and L. J. Schoenstedt. Comparison of esports and traditional sports consumption motives. *ICHPER-SD Journal Of Research*, 6:39–44, 2011.
- [74] B. Leidenfrost, B. Strassnig, A. Schabmann, C. Spiel, and C.-C. Carbon. Peer mentoring styles and their contribution to academic success among mentees: A personoriented study in higher education. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 19(3):347–364, 2011.
- [75] N. Lokhman, O. Karashchuk, and O. Kornilova. Analysis of esports as a commercial activity. Problems and Perspectives in Management, 16(1):207–213, 2018.
- [76] C. Low-Kam, C. Raïssi, M. Kaytoue, and J. Pei. Mining statistically significant sequential patterns. In 2013 IEEE 13th International Conference on Data Mining, pages 488–497. IEEE, 2013.
- [77] W. E. Mackay. Is paper safer? the role of paper flight strips in air traffic control. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI), 6(4):311–340, 1999.
- [78] H. B. Mann and D. R. Whitney. On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. *The annals of mathematical statistics*, 8(1):50–60, 1947.
- [79] M. A. Marks, J. E. Mathieu, and S. J. Zaccaro. A temporally based framework and taxonomy of team processes. *Academy of management review*, 26(3):356–376, 2001.
- [80] M. A. Marks, S. J. Zaccaro, and J. E. Mathieu. Performance implications of leader briefings and team-interaction training for team adaptation to novel environments. *Journal of applied psychology*, 85(6):971, 2000.
- [81] S. L. Marlow, C. N. Lacerenza, and E. Salas. Communication in virtual teams: A conceptual framework and research agenda. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(4):575–589, 2017.
- [82] J. E. Mathieu, T. L. Rapp, M. T. Maynard, and P. M. Mangos. Interactive effects of team and task shared mental models as related to air traffic controllers' collective efficacy and effectiveness. *Human Performance*, 23(1):22–40, 2009.
- [83] J. McCarthy. Chess as the drosophila of ai. In Computers, chess, and cognition, pages 227–237. Springer, 1990.
- [84] R. M. Menasce. From casual to professional: how Brazilians achieved eSports success in counter-strike: global offensive. PhD thesis, Northeastern University, 2017.
- [85] R. L. Moreland, L. Argote, and R. Krishnan. Socially shared cognition at work: Transactive memory and group performance. 1996.
- [86] G. L. Nagel. Use of eye tracking for esports analytics in a moba game. Master's thesis, The University of Bergen, 2017.

- [87] F. F. d. Nascimento Junior, A. S. d. C. Melo, I. B. da Costa, and L. B. Marinho. Profiling successful team behaviors in league of legends. In *Proceedings of the 23rd Brazillian Symposium on Multimedia and the Web*, pages 261–268, 2017.
- [88] A. Newell. You can't play 20 questions with nature and win: Projective comments on the papers of this symposium. 1973.
- [89] L. of Graphs. Rank distribution, 2022.
- [90] E. Olshefski. Game-changing event definition and detection in an esports corpus. In Proceedings of the The 3rd Workshop on EVENTS: Definition, Detection, Coreference, and Representation, pages 77–81, 2015.
- [91] G. M. Olson and J. S. Olson. Distance matters. Human-computer interaction, 15(2-3):139–178, 2000.
- [92] P. Parshakov and M. Zavertiaeva. Success in esports: Does country matter? SSRN, 2015.
- [93] N. Pobiedina, J. Neidhardt, M. d. C. C. Moreno, L. Grad-Gyenge, and H. Werthner. On successful team formation: Statistical analysis of a multiplayer online game. In 2013 IEEE 15th Conference on Business Informatics, pages 55–62. IEEE, 2013.
- [94] J. Rambusch, P. Jakobsson, and D. Pargman. Exploring e-sports: A case study of game play in counter-strike. In 3rd Digital Games Research Association International Conference:" Situated Play", DiGRA 2007, Tokyo, 24 September 2007 through 28 September 2007, volume 4, pages 157–164. Digital Games Research Association (DiGRA), 2007.
- [95] S. Reeves, B. Brown, and E. Laurier. Experts at play: Understanding skilled expertise. Games and Culture, 4(3):205–227, 2009.
- [96] J. G. Reitman. Distributed cognition and temporal knowledge in league of legends. International Journal of Gaming and Computer-Mediated Simulations (IJGCMS), 10(1):23-41, 2018.
- [97] J. G. Reitman, M. J. Anderson-Coto, M. Wu, J. S. Lee, and C. Steinkuehler. Esports research: A literature review. *Games and Culture*, 15(1):32–50, 2020.
- [98] J. G. Reitman, A. Cho, and C. Steinkuehler. The rise of high school esports: A landscape analysis of us programs [white paper, 2018.
- [99] O. Ruvalcaba, J. Shulze, A. Kim, S. R. Berzenski, and M. P. Otten. Women's experiences in esports: Gendered differences in peer and spectator feedback during competitive video game play. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 42:295–311, 2018.
- [100] E. Salas, S. A. Almeida, M. Salisbury, H. King, E. H. Lazzara, R. Lyons, K. A. Wilson, P. A. Almeida, and R. McQuillan. What are the critical success factors for team training in health care? *The Joint Commission journal on quality and patient safety*, 35(8):398–405, 2009.

- [101] E. Salas, M. A. Rosen, and H. King. Managing teams managing crises: principles of teamwork to improve patient safety in the emergency room and beyond. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*, 8(5):381–394, 2007.
- [102] E. Salas, D. E. Sims, and C. S. Burke. Is there a "big five" in teamwork? Small group research, 36:555–599, 2005.
- [103] N. Sebanz, H. Bekkering, and G. Knoblich. Joint action: bodies and minds moving together. Trends in cognitive sciences, 10(2):70–76, 2006.
- [104] P. K. Sen. Estimates of the regression coefficient based on kendall's tau. Journal of the American statistical association, 63(324):1379–1389, 1968.
- [105] Y. Seo. Electronic sports: A new marketing landscape of the experience economy. Journal of marketing management, 29:1542–1560, 2013.
- [106] Y. Seo and S.-U. Jung. Beyond solitary play in computer games: The social practices of esports. *Journal of consumer culture*, 16:635–655, 2016.
- [107] J. B. Sexton, E. J. Thomas, and R. L. Helmreich. Error, stress, and teamwork in medicine and aviation: cross sectional surveys. *Bmj*, 320(7237):745–749, 2000.
- [108] V. Stein and T. M. Scholz. The intercultural challenge of building the european esports league for video gaming. *Intercultural management: A case-based approach to achieving complementarity and synergy*, pages 80–94, 2016.
- [109] C. Steinkuehler, J. Reitman, R. Gardner, K. Campbell, and A. Cho. Academic and social-emotional learning in nasef: Quantifying the patterns in qualitative observations [white paper]. 2019.
- [110] S. Stemler. An overview of content analysis. *Practical assessment, research, and evaluation*, 7(1):17, 2000.
- [111] E. Sundstrom. Supporting work team effectiveness: Best management practices for fostering high performance. Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1999.
- [112] M. Szablewicz. From addicts to athletes: Participation in the discursive construction of digital games in urban china. *AoIR Selected Papers of Internet Research*, 2011.
- [113] N. Taylor. A silent team is a dead team": Communicative norms in team-based halo 3 play. Guns, grenades and grunts: First person shooter games, pages 251–275, 2012.
- [114] N. Taylor. Play to the camera: Video ethnography, spectatorship, and e-sports. *Convergence*, 22(2):115–130, 2016.
- [115] N. Taylor, J. Jenson, and S. D. Castell. Cheerleaders/booth babes/halo hoes: progaming, gender and jobs for the boys. *Digital Creativity*, 20:239–252, 2009.
- [116] N. T. Taylor. Play globally, act locally: The standardization of pro halo 3 gaming. International Journal of Gender, Science and Technology, 3:229–242, 2011.

- [117] T. L. Taylor. Raising the stakes: E-sports and the professionalization of computer gaming. Mit Press, 2012.
- [118] T. L. Taylor and E. Witkowski. This is how we play it: what a mega-lan can teach us about games. In *Proceedings of the fifth international conference on the foundations* of digital games, pages 195–202, 2010.
- [119] J. Thiborg. esport and governering bodies: An outline for a research project and preliminary results. In Kultur-Natur, Konferens för kulturstudier i Sverige, Norrköping, Sweden (2009), 2009.
- [120] M. A. Valentine, S. Barsade, A. C. Edmondson, A. Gal, and R. Rhodes. Informal peer interaction and practice type as predictors of physician performance on maintenance of certification examinations. *JAMA surgery*, 149(6):597–603, 2014.
- [121] L. Valve. Counter-strike, 2000.
- [122] M. G. Wagner. On the scientific relevance of esports. In International conference on internet computing, pages 437–442. Las Vegas, NV, 2006.
- [123] D. M. Wegner. Transactive memory: A contemporary analysis of the group mind. In Theories of group behavior, pages 185–208. Springer, 1987.
- [124] T. Weiss. Fulfilling the needs of esports consumers: A uses and gratifications perspective. In *Bled eConference*, pages 572–580, 2011.
- [125] S. J. Whalen. Cyberathletes' lived experience of video game tournaments. 2013.
- [126] T. Wiinblad. Team breakdown ep. 2 cloud 9 (featured guests: Kaymind nerf) [video file], 1:05:54. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RDsENafnhy4, 2019. Accessed: 2019-02-6.
- [127] J. L. Wildman, A. L. Thayer, M. A. Rosen, E. Salas, J. E. Mathieu, and S. R. Rayne. Task types and team-level attributes: Synthesis of team classification literature. *Human Resource Development Review*, 11(1):97–129, 2012.
- [128] T. J. Wiltshire, J. E. Butner, and S. M. Fiore. Problem-solving phase transitions during team collaboration. *Cognitive science*, 42(1):129–167, 2018.
- [129] E. Witkowski. Inside the huddle: The phenomenology and sociology of team play in networked computer games. *IT University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen*, 2012.
- [130] E. Witkowski. *Sports Videogames*, chapter Eventful masculinities: Negotiations of hegemonic sporting masculinities at LANs, pages 225–243. Routledge, 1 edition, 2013.
- [131] D. Yao. Capturesports: A multiplayer data aggregation tool for facilitating esports research and analysis. Master's thesis, University of California, Irvine, 2020.
- [132] L. Zang, J. Wu, and Y. Li. Research on current situation of e-sports in urumqi, xinjiang. International Journal of Sports Science and Engineering, 2(1):57–61, 2007.

[133] A. Zolides. Lipstick bullets: Labour and gender in professional gamer self-branding. *Persona Studies*, 1:42–53, 2015.

## Appendix A

### League of Legends Map



Figure A.1: The *League of Legends* map [43].

# Appendix B

# **Recruitment Flyer**

### **Research Participants Needed**

#### Measuring Performance and Communication of Esports Players

Lead Researcher Dr. Constance Steinkuehler and researchers from the Informatics Department at the University of California, Irvine are recruiting participants for a study of in-game data collection while playing League of Legends. This study aims to explore the in-game behavior of esports players.

#### Who is eligible to participate?

- At least 18 years of age or older & a student of UC-Wide campuses.

- League of Legends players whose rank is Bronze and higher.

- You are encouraged to participate as a team of 5 people if you have a group of friends or teammates that plays together regularly (Your team must have played at least 10 games together).

- You can still participate as a solo player.

- You must have a webcam or a smartphone to join a video chat during the session

#### When and Where?

- The session will consist of 3 Summoner's Rift matches and pre/post survey and interview.

- Scheduling will be discussed with participants through email.
- Study will be conducted at your own place.
- We will send a heart rate tracker and instruction before the study

#### What do I do?

- You will be asked to play 3 matches of League of Legends with other participants. Who is on which team will be decided by the researchers beforehand. Due to the restriction regarding to COVID-19, you will be guided to participate in the study remotely.

- During play, in-game events, keypresses, and mouse movements will be collected
- Summative statistics of your play will be collected through the Riot Games' API
- Your screen and facial expressions will be video-recorded
- Your heart rate will be logged through a wearable device. Any identifiable data such as your summoner name and facial image will be de-identified when stored.

- You will be given a pretest survey (2-5 minutes) before starting the session. Immediately following the series of 3 matches, you will be asked to complete a posttest survey (10 minutes) and will be asked to participate in a focus group/individual interview (30 minutes)

#### Compensation

- The wearable device (worth \$69.99) used for the study plus \$20 Amazon gift card upon completion of a full session.

- Extra \$25 Amazon gift card when participating as a team of 5 players

#### How to participate

If you are interested in participating in this study, please contact Jeseok Lee at jesl@uci.edu or Jason Reitman at jreitman@uci.edu

UCI IRB Approved: 10-16-2020 | APP# 14763 | HS# 2020-5976

1 of 1

Figure B.1: Recruitment flyer for adult participants.

### Appendix C

### **Demographic Survey Items**

The items on the pre-session survey, presented below as they were presented to the participants through Qualtrics, were all free response.

- Summoner Name:
- Year of birth:
- Gender:
- Current League of Legends rank:
- Highest achieved League of Legends rank:
- Number of games of League of Legends I have played with my teammates (can be an estimate):

### Appendix D

# **Example Period of Interest Coding**

ТоТ	Moti	Info	Time	Coll	Temp
Lets take the dragon-	0	+	+	-	-
No not in time I don't think		+	+	+	-
Yeah not in time, Okay	0	+	+	0	-
Ah damn	-	-	-	0	-
Well she's not here, ya know	0	+	+	-	-
This is a 5v4 this is really good	+	+	+	+	-
Just ward	0	+	+	0	-
Can we just drag this out and then just take it?	0	+	+	+	-
They're all here so if we can drag it out, trust	0	+	+	+	-
OHH This is bad	-	-	+	0	-
She's here she's here	0	+	+	-	-
Oh god	-	-	-	0	-
I'm leaving	0	+	+	-	-
She's half	0	+	+	-	-
She doesn't die though she just doesn't die	0	+	+	-	-
That's tough	-	-	-	0	-
But we got the drag	0	+	-	+	-
Did we?	0	+	-	+	-
No I don't think so	0	+	-	-	-
We did not	0	+	-	+	-
Yeah I'll be honest focusing (them) and then it was	0	+	-	-	-
their dragon, my fault					
No worries	0	-	-	0	-
All good	+	-	-	0	-
Ah shit	-	-	-	0	-
Morgana does a lot	0	+	+	-	-
Her ult set up the Irelia	0	+	-	-	-
Oh god no	-	-	-	0	-
That's tough	-	-	-	0	-
Ah fuck	-	-	-	0	-
She just runs in, it's hard to run away	0	+	+	-	-
Do we even get up in time?	0	+	+	+	+
Close game	0	-	+	0	-
Is that game?	0	+	+	0	-
Yeah I think that's game	0	+	+	-	-
I think so I'll be honest	0	+	+	-	-
Pretty close	0	+	+	0	-
I think that's open inhib, open nexus sorry	-	+	+	-	-
Yeah that's it	0	+	+	0	-

Table D.1: Example PoI from game 3 of TNGN session 2

### Appendix E

# Visualizations of Communication Styles by Group



Figure E.1: Bar graphs of communication frequency and quality proportions in each group.



Figure E.2: Histogram of communication frequency in each group.



Figure E.3: Histogram of motivational proportion in each group.



Figure E.4: Histogram of informative proportion in each group.



Figure E.5: Histogram of timely proportion in each group.



Figure E.6: Histogram of collective proportion in each group.



Figure E.7: Histogram of temporal information proportion in each group.

## Appendix F

# Visualizations of Relationships between Communication Styles and Performance



Figure F.1: Scatter plot of KD performance by communication frequency in each group.



Figure F.2: Scatter plot of KD performance by motivational communication in each group.



Figure F.3: Scatter plot of KD performance by informative communication in each group.



Figure F.4: Scatter plot of KD performance by timely communication in each group.



Figure F.5: Scatter plot of KD performance by collective communication in each group.


Figure F.6: Scatter plot of KD performance by temporal information communicated in each group.



Figure F.7: Scatter plot of KD performance by temporal information communicated in each group, omitting periods with no temporal information communicated.



Figure F.8: Boxplots of communication frequency and qualities by objective performance over the entire corpus.



Figure F.9: Boxplots of communication frequency by objective performance in each group.



Figure F.10: Boxplots of motivational communication by objective performance in each group.



Figure F.11: Boxplots of informative communication by objective performance in each group.



Figure F.12: Boxplots of timely communication by objective performance in each group.



Figure F.13: Boxplots of collective communication by objective performance in each group.



Figure F.14: Boxplots of temporal information communicated by objective performance in each group.

## Appendix G

## Analysis of Temporal Information Communication, Team Experience, and Game Expertise

Table G.1: two-way ANOVA of temporal information communication as a function of team experience and game expertise.

Source	df	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	p
TeamXP	1	0.01	0.01	1.54	0.219
GameXP	1	0.03	0.03	5.12	0.026 *
TeamXP:GameXP	1	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.43	0.517
Error	78	0.41	0.01		
Total	81	0.45			